


































































Part I 

The Mandatory Period (1922-1948) 
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Chapter 6 

Laying the Foundations 

During the latter years of the First World War President Woodro 
settlement should be based. With regard to Palestinena 

the territories formerly under Turkish rule, Wilson advocated the the 

Wilson announced Fourteen Points upon which he fl 

recognition of their right to self-determination and that they be give 

an absolute unmolested opportunity of development". Earlier 
January 1918, Wilson warned the American Congress that tha 
peoples and provinces of the Ottoman Empire should not be tracderd 
and bartered as pawns in the balance of power game amono 

nations. He claimed that the acquisition of territory by conquest 
should be rejected.

Soon after the war ended in November 1918, the victorious 
powers gathered for a peace conference in Versailles, France, in 
January 1919. One of the main issues at the top of their agenda was 
the future of Palestine and the other Arab countries occupied by the 
Allied Forces. As it turned out, the conference's decisions proved to 
be totally inconsistent with the principles and promises that were 
advanced during the war. 

in 

The Peace Conference 

Regretfully, the Paris Peace Conference did not uphold the 
principles of self-determination and non-interference advocated by 
Wilson. Instead, the victorious powers created a new form of 
colonial rule called the mandate system. Under this arrangement 
nation that was given a mandate received control of the 
administration and resources of another people "until such time as 

they are able to stand alone". Greater Syria was, accordingiy, 
divided into Syria, Lebanon, and Palestine and placed under Frencn 
and British rule. The people of the region, however, felt unjustuy 
betrayed as they were previously given assurances of 
independence. Addressing the Paris Peace Conference, >l 
Husayn's son, Faisal, pointed out, "As representing my father, wi 
by request of Britain and France, led the Arab rebellion aga Turks, I have come to ask that the Arabic-speaking peopie be recognized as independent sovereign peoples.. 

he 

Asia 
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Faisal's words fell on deaf ears. This was demonstrated on 25 
April 1920, when the Supreme Council of the principal Allied 

Powers, sitting in San Remo, granted mandates to France over Syria 
and Lebanon, and Britain over Iraq and Palestine. The plan was, 
however, fiercely resisted by the respective populations and in the 
end the mandates were imposed by force of arms. In Syria, French 
troops crushed a ocal uprising and imposed military rule over the 

country. Similar unrests erupted in Iraq against the British. They 

eventually managed to contain the situation by installing Faisal as 

King over Iraq after the French had driven him out from Syria. 

Although there was also resistance and confrontations in 

Palestine, the situation there was, in some respects, diferent. There, 
Britain had no intention of establishing a government of local Arab 
leaders. Its foremost concern at this stage was, instead, to forge 
ahead with its commitment to the Zionist movement. Toward this 

end Whitehall appointed a prominent British Zionist, Herbert 
Samuel, as High Commissioner of Palestine with the authority to 

establish a civil government in Jerusalem from the first of July 1920. 
The legitimacy of this administration was always questioned 
because at the time there was no formal peace treaty between 

Turkey and any of Allied Powers. 

In a sense, therefore, the Mandate was not so much entrusted 

upon the British as it was seized by force of arms. Hence, the 

Mandate did not legally come into effect in 1920 because the 

Turkish National Assembly rejected the Treaty of Sèvres, which the 

Supreme Council of the Principal Allied Powers tried to impose 

upon Turkey in August 1920. The Turks particularly objected to 

Article 95 of the Treaty, which called for the administration of 

Palestine to be granted to a Mandatory selected by the Allies and 

that this Mandatory would be responsible to put into effect the 1917 

Balfour Declaration. While the defeated Turks seemed prepared to 

accept the separation of the Arab provinces they were firmly 

opposed to the idea of a Jewish national home in Palestine. After a 

series of further negotiations the matter was finally resolved with 

the signing of the Treaty of Lausanne on 23 July 1923. 

It is important to note that the Treaty of Lausanne made no 

mention of the Balfour Declaration. While renouncing its rights and 

title to Palestine [in Article 16|, Turkey, as the state which possessed 

sovereignty over Palestine, did not mortgage its future for 
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future establishment of a Jewish home. It stated that its future 

decided by "the parties concerned; meaning its people. should be 
Although Turkey was forced to renounce its rights 

rab ied Powers 
territories, it did not hand over such ights to the Allied 

collectively or to any one of them in particular. In the co 

of ownership to 
e case of 

Palestine no mention was made of a transfer of ownersho 

Britain. Had this been the case it would have mentioned 
SO as it 

did in Article 15 with regard to certain Mediterranean islande which it specifically renounced in favor of Italy. 

Conflicting Aims 
By itself the Balfour Declaration had little value to the Zionist 

movement. Though issued by the British government, it had 
absolutely no legal basis of authority. The purpose of the 
Mandatory was, therefore, to provide the legal cover for its 
enforcement. Had they so desired, any British government could 
have ignored or repudiated the Declaration, which was only a 

statement of policy. With its incorporation into the Mandatory and 

ratification by the Principal Allied Powers acting through the League 
of Nations on 22 July 1922, the Balfour Declaration was, however, 
raised to the level of an international treaty. 

The Mandate for Palestine contained two contradictory 
objectives. On the one hand, its preamble stated that its purpose 
was to put into effect the provisions of Article 22 of the Charter of 

the League of Nations. Notable among these was that the well 

being and development' of the people of the mandated territory 
Palestine - form a sacred trust of civilization. Another provision 
affirmed that the existence of the Palestinian people as a 
independent nation was provisionally recognized. 

Contrary to this, the preamble further declared that tne 
Mandatory was obliged to "be responsible for putting into effect u Declaration originally made on 2 November, 1917 Dy 
government of His Britannic Majesty and adopted by the > Principal Allied) Powers in favor of the establishment in Pal of a national home for the Jewish people". 

tine 

the These contrasting objectives were then fused in Article 0 for Mandatory. This read, "The Mandatory shall be responsiu placing the country under such political, administrative 
economic conditions as will secure the establishment of tne national home, as laid down in the preamble, and the developm 

Jewish 
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of selt-governing institutions, and also for safe-guarding the civil 
and religious rights of all the inhabitants of Palestine, irrespective of 
race and religion". 

Throughout the twenty-six year period of its Mandate in 
Palestine, Britain ensured that all legislative and executive powers 

in the country remained with itself and its High Commissioner. 

There were, admittedly, two half-hearted attempts to bring about 
self-government in Palestine. Both the first, which took place in 

1922, and the second in 1939, were opposed and derailed by the 

Zionists. In the first instance, an Order-in-Council recommended the 

creation of a Legislative Council consisting of ten aPpointed 

members and twelve elected members. As a result of Zionist 

opposition the elections, which were held in 1923 for this purpose 

were declared null and avoid. No further elections were held; 
instead full powers were thereafter vested in the High 

Commissioner. 
The second attempt to recognize Palestinian political aspirations 

was in 1939 when the British government issued a White Paper 

(No.6019). It stated in part that, "His Majesty's Government believe 
that the framers of the Mandate in which the Balfour Declaration 
was embodied could not have intended that Palestine should be 

converted into a Jewish State against the will of the Arab 

population of the country". It called, therefore, for "the 

establishment within ten years of an independent Palestine State", 

and control of Jewish immigration to a maximum of 15,000 

annually for the next five years, after that it could only occur with 

Arab approval. The Zionists violently opposed the White Paper as 

the persecution of Jews in Nazi Germany was reaching its peak and 

the attempt to realize Palestinian independence was defeated. 

While denying Palestinians the right to develop self-governing 

institutions or even to participate in the administration of their own 

country, Britain made special provisions to increase Jewish power 

and influence. Article 4 of the Mandate allowed for the creation of 

an appropriate Jewish agency...recognized as a public body for 

the purpose of advising and co-operating with the Administration of 

Palestine in such economic, social and other matters as may affectt 

the establishment of the Jewish national home..". 

In the event, the Zionist Organization soon became the Jewish 

Agency and despite being a foreign body, was allowed to assume 

governmental functions in Palestine. 
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As it seemed, British policy makers had long co 

Zionist colony in Palestine would serve their interests ded that a 
better than an 

independent Palestinian state. Lord Balfour had, inda eed, affirmed 
this in a memorandum dated 19 September 1919. That. med 

we do not propose even to go through the form of co 

wishes of the present inhabitants of the country... The Fos 

1919. That, "In Pal 
of consulting the 

Four Powers 
more are committed to Zionism... ZiOnism be it right or wro 

important than the wishes of 700,000 Arabs",3 

lestine, To complete the foundation of the Zionist project in Dai. 

of 
one other important block had to be installed. The colonizatio 

the country required a Jewish majority, which, in turn, demand ded a 

steady and massive flow of immigrants. Toward this end, Article 
of the Mandate called for provisions, "to facilitate Jewish 

immigration and encourage close settlement by Jews on the land 

By doing so the British Mandatory did not only lay the foundation 

of the future Jewish state but it also sowed the seeds of a conflict 

that would haunt Palestine and the entire region for many years to 
come. However, the Jews would not have responded to the Zionist 

call of migration if it were not for the Holocaust. 

Points of Review 

Despite renouncing its rights over its former Arab territories, 
Turkey never handed over such rights to the Allied Powers 

collectively or individually. 

The purpose of the British Mandate in Palestine was to give 

legal cover for the enforcement of the Balfour Declaration. 

British policy makers had long concluded that a Zionist colony 

in Palestine would serve their interests better than an independent 
Palestinian state. 

Questions 

why dlid the Turkish government refuse to ratify the 1920 Tred 
of Sevres? 

2. Explain the 'sacred trust of civilization', which the ea s 

of 

of its 
e 

Nations entrusted upon the mandatory powers in Article za 

Charter. 
o Comment on the measures adopted by the British Mandat 

prevent the realization of Palestinian independence. 
32 



Chapter 7 

Jewish Immigration and its Consequences 

For all intents and purposes, the Mandatory was something of a 

stepping-stone toward the creation of a Jewish state in Palestine. 

While addressing the Paris Peace Conference in February 1919, 
Chaim Weizmann, President of the World Zionist Organization, told 

delegates that through a process of immigration they aimed to create 

a Jewish majority in Palestine. Although the Peace Conference did 
not officially adopt the plan to make Palestine a Jewish state, it did, 

nonetheless, clear the way to make this possible. 
On the face of it, no particular importance was attached to the 

es of the Palestinian Arabs. The Balfour Declaration did not 

even recognize them as a people with historic national rights. 

Having committed His Majesty's government to the establishment of 

a Jewish national home in Palestine it noted only as a kind of 

afterthought that nothing shall be done to prejudice the civil and 

religious rights of existing "non-Jewish communities". Thus, with 

this indirect reterence to the Palestinians the Declaration ignored 

completely their political and national rights. 

Once the imposition of the Mandatory was finally completed in 

1922, Britain and the Jewish Agency stepped up their cooperation 
to achieve the principal Zionist objectives in Palestine. Foremost 

among these were the acquisition of land, attainment of a Jewish 

majority, and declaration of statehood. Several practical steps were 

taken to achieve these objectives. Land was purchased and decreed 
the absolute property of the Jewish people, which could not be 

sold, leased or mortgaged thereafter. Large-scale immigration was 

encouraged. Political and administrative structures were built to 

assume the functions of the future state. Monopolies were granted 
to ensure control over the economy and a military force was 

formed to protect Jewish interests. In effect, a self-contained entity 
was created on Palestinian soil, which was hostile to and separate 

from the Palestinian people. 

Immigration 
There were about one million Palestinians and fifty-six thousand 

Jews in Palestine at the end of the First World War. Clearly the 
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succeeded 
growh 

without large-scale Jewish immigration. Their slow na ucceed 

erical parity 

Zionist attempt to colonize Palestine could not a.. 

meant they had no realistic chance of achieving numerical 
8TO 

pari with the Arabs, let alone becoming the majority. In an 

delivered in Jerusalem on 
7 

July 1920, High Commisei issioner ddrese 

administration 
address 

Samuel announced that the main purpoSe of his administeerben 
as 

to encourage Jewish immigration so that they wolan as 

this 
become 

predominant in Palestine.' He subsequently followodOme 

mmigration in declaration with the creation or a dureau for immigrat 

September of the same year. 

ws 
Between 1919 and 1923, an estimated thirty-five thousand 

immigrated to Palestine. In 1925, another thirty-five thoue usand 

arrived. This steady build-up of immigrants into Palestine 

partially encouraged by events in Europe where econor 

depression and hostility toward Jews forced many to flee their 

homes.2 Large numbers tried to enter the United States but found 

they were not welcomed after 1923 when the US government 

clamped down on immigrants from east European countries because 

they tended, more often than not, to be intluenced by socialist ideas. 

Although the Mandatory specified that the rate of Jewish 
immigration into Palestine should correspond with the economic 

ability of the country to absorb the immigrants, this was not 
faithfully observed in practice. On the contrary, the British 
government reinterpreted this provision in 1931 to apply only to 

the Jewish sector, which was demanding increased numbers of 

workers. Consequently, during the five-year period between 1931 

and 1936 the number of Jewish residents in Palestine doubled to 
370,000 (27%). Whereas the first British census carried out in 
December 1922 had recorded a total of 757,182 residents of whom 

83,794 (11%) were Jewish, the second census conducted n 
December 1931 counted 1,035,821 of whom 174,006 (1796) were 

Was 

Jewish.3 

In 1934 the High Commissioner disclosed that the DIl Mandatory had completely lost control of Jewish immigration ino 
Palestine as early as 1932. As the number of Jews who wC 

who smuggled into Palestine during this period outstripped tno of rs had passports and valid immigration documents, the worst Ieai the Palestinian population became gradually manifest. 1 
witnessed, with frustration and then anger, that the new ettler 

that population not only eroded the immense numerical superiony 
34 
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they had enjoyed in their ancestral land for thousands of years but 

began to employ apartheid ideologies of segregation. 

Land Acquisition 
Although most Jewish immigrants tended to settle in urban 

centers like Jerusalem, Haifa and Ramla, the acquisition of 
Palestinian land was always considered essential for the success of 

the Zionist project. Theodore Herzl, the movement's founding, 

leader recorded in his diary that the essence of the project and key 

to its success rested in the expropriation and handover of 

Palestinian land to Jewish immigrants. Later on, at the 1901 Fifth 

Zionist Congress, he ordered the establishment of the Jewish 

National Fund to coordinate land purchases and ensure that such 

land would never again be made available for sale. The reason for 

this latter - inalienability provision was to make certain that every 

piece of land bought by the Jewish National Fund would become a 

part of the future Jewish state. 

By 1920 the Jewish settler movement gained control of about 

650,000 dunums (one dunum equals a quarter of an acre) of land. 

Ten years later the figure mounted to 1,164,000 dunums. In 1936 

the total holdings were further expanded to an estimated 1,400,000 

dunums. Most of the purchases of these lands were made from 

absentee owners mainly resident in Beirut. Before the First World 

War Beirut and the territories to its south, including the Galilee, 
constituted a single administrative unit under Turkish rule. After the 
war, however, Beirut fell within the areas mandated to the French. 
As a consequence of this new situation many large landowners sold 
their property in mandated Palestine. When viewed in the context 

of the overall area of Palestine the amount of land sold in this 
manner was relatively insignificant. By 1947 the Jews only managed 
to gain control of 1.9 million dunums, which represented about 6% 

of the total land surface. 

Admittedly, it was not always important to the Zionists if the 

productivity of the newly acquired lands were increased or not. 

What seemed to be of utmost importance was to prevent the Arabs 

from ever benefiting from their land. On the whole, the policy of 

land purchases were guided by four considerations: the economic 

V1ability of the land, its contribution to forming a contiguous enclave 
of Jewish territory, the avoidance of isolated settlements and the 
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Lionists political-territorial claims.5 

The Mandatory employed several methods to brino 

contribution 
of those land purchases to tha 

Zionist 
played a control of Palestinian land. High Commissioner Sam nuel ioniy 

leading role in this by first changing the laws which were 

previously enacted by the Ottoman Turks to ne 

ownership of land and real estate. He substituted thee Ish 
event 

with a 
series of new pieces of legislation intended to serve the int 

of 
a 

the Jews only. Most of these laws were passed during the 1920. 
S. 

Apart from the land purchases, the Mandatory administrat. 
granted monopoly concessions to the Zionist movement to control 

and develop Palestine's natural resources. In 1921 it gave the rio 
to supply electricity to all of Palestine with the exception of 

Jerusalem to Pinhas Rutenberg's Palestine Electricity Company 
Other companies received similar concessions to conduct mineral 

exploration and irrigation development in the Dead Sea and the 

Huleh marshes, north of the Sea of Galilee respectively. 

On another level the Mandatory imposed an elaborate and 

burdensome system of taxation upon the Palestinians, which 

gradually led to their impoverishment and dispossession. Because 

of the numerous administrative obstacles placed in their way, many 

local farmers were unable to export their produce. As a result they 

failed to generate enough income to pay the taxes on their homes, 
land, animals and customs. In 1928, 64.2% of the families in Haita 

for example, were threatened with imprisonment or the 
confiscation of their property. When the normal channels ot 

extracting the taxes were exhausted the Mandatory resorted to the

expulsion of farmers by the force of arms. On 15 June 1933 Britisin 

forces evicted 2,546 Arab families from Al-Hawarith Valley near uu 
Karm. Similarly, in January 1935 they expelled the Zabaydat Arad 

residents from their lands in Al-Harithiyeh near Haifa. Other 
residents from Afoolah and five neighboring villages 
expelled during this period.6 

vere also 

Land and Labour 

In order to complete their colonization of Palestine, tne 
Zionists could not rely on the conquest of Palestinian 1an They also had to pursue a policy of separate developnal. apartheid - that would allow Jewish political, educatiot 

of 

y 
y. 

nent 

economic, and military institutions to take root. The lead 
ders 
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"Labour Zionism" were the most ardent acdvocates of this separatist 
policy. In 1920 they founded the General Federation of Jewish 
Labour (Histadrut), whose guiding slogans were; "Jewish Land, 
Jewish Labour, Jewish Produce". These ideas proved especially 
atractive to the Jewish emigrants who were, in the main, poor and 

unemployed. They swallowed, hook, line, and sinker, the Histadrut 
argument that the exclusion of Palestinian labour meant more jobs 

and relatively higher wages for themselves.7 Thus, when translated 

into practice, the principle of "Jewish Labour" forced many Jewish 
industries and agricultural settlements to hire Jewish labour only 

and boycott the fruits and produce from non-Jewish farms. 

The drive to enforce the doctrine of "Jewish Labour" intensified 

in the 1930s. When some Jewish builders and citrus growers 

employed Palestinian workers, the Histadrut launched a campaign 

to deny them employment. This campaign spread to the cities 

where Palestinian Arabs were physically removed after they had 

found employment in Jewish industries. Members of the Histadrut 

picketed Jewish farms in order to prevent Palestinians from getting 

jobs. They poured kerosene on Arab agricultural produce and 

attacked Jewish housewives who purchased from Arab farmers. In 

1936 David Ben Gurion, a founding leader of the Histadrut and 

future prime minister of Israel, told a meeting of the National 

Council of the settler movement (Yishuv), "If we want Hebrew 

redemption 100%, then we must have a 100% Hebrew settlement, a 

100% Hebrew farm, and a 100% Hebrew port".8 

The Zionist colonization of Palestine differed in one significant 

way from other colonialist enterprises. Instead of exploiting the 

Palestinian Arab population for the benefit of a mother country as 

Indian workers were by the British, the Zionists set about to expel 

and replace the indigenous population. If ever they succeeded in 

concealing their objective in the early part of the twentieth century, 
it had become an open secret by the mid-1930s. While the Zionist

leader, Chaim Weizmann, compared the Arabs of Palestine to the 

rocks of Judea, "as obstacles that had to be cleared on a difficult 

path,". 
Ben Gurion, in 1938, went even further and declared, "after we 

become a strong force, as a result of the creation of a state, we 

shall abolish partition and expand to the whole of Palestine" 

As expected, the Palestinians did not resign themselves to losing 
their land. Zionism had clearly become a danger not only to 
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spirations 
well. By 1936 about half of the peasantry could no tions. 

through varic ous mea 

individual livelihood but also to Palestinian national 

uld no longer sustain 
evicted about twenty thousand families. Those who drifted 

Mean 
inta 

cities did so only to swell the ranks of he unemployed. into 

themselves on their land. The Zionist, through 

the 

staging 1935, when the British Mandatory prevented them from June 

peaceful demonstration, the Federation of Arab Workers 
sponded 

ng8a 

With a warning of things to come, "The government willPOnded 

to give the workers either bread or bullets".9 
ill soon have 

Points of Review 
Although the Mandatory specified that the rate of . 

immigration into Palestine should correspond with the econ onomic 
ability of the country to absorb the immigrants, this was not 

faithfully observed in practice. 

The essence of the Zionist project and key to its succesS Sted 

in the expropriation and handover of Palestinian land to Jewish 
immigrants. 

Instead of exploiting the Palestinian Arab population for the 
benefit of a mother country as Indian workers were by the 
British, the Zionist colonizers set about to expel and replace the 
indigenous population. 

Questions 
1. How did the Mandatory help in accelerating Jewish immigration to Palestine? 

2. What was the main function of the Jewish National Fund n 
Palestine? 

3 Explain the doctrine of "ILabour Zionism". 
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Chapter 8 

Early Palestinian Resistance 

Although 'the land of Palestine' was administratively part of 
greater Syria, there was a general understanding and recognition of 

Palestine as a distinct entity. This was especially the case with the 

Zionists who had long desired to establish a national home in 
Palestine. Arab opposition to this project, manifested in immigration 

and land purchases, began to take root long before the First World 

War, as early as the formation of the World Zionist Organization in 

1897. 

During this early period, official Ottoman policy was that Jewish 

immigrants would be able to settle in parts of the Ottoman Empire 
but not in Palestine. In 1897 an Arab commission was formed in 

Jerusalem to look into the question of land sales and immigration. 
Its opposition led to the cessation of sales for a number of years. It 

was easier to purchase land in the northern vilayet (district), hence 

the Jewish Colonization Association (JCA) decided to set up an 

office in Beirut in 1900. At the time many of the large landowners in 

northern Palestine resided in Beirut. 

Arab efforts were uncoordinated and often manifested in 

individual efforts. There were, of course, several notable isolated 
cases of peasant protests. In 1902 Shaykh Rashid Ricda warned in his 

journal, Al-Manar, that the Jews entering Palestine sought national 

sovereignty there and not simply a refuge from European 

persecution. The issue was in fact widely debated in the Arab 

media, namely in Egypt. According to the Palestinian historian 

Rashid Khalidi, over six hundred articles on Zionism were published 

in a sample of seventeen key newspapers from Cairo, Beirut, Haifa 

and Damascus between 1909 and 1914.1 Arab opposition during this 
period was particularly strong. Much of what was written by the 

intelligentsia was in response to what was happening to their fellow 

peasants. Their replacement by Jewish immigrants on farms angered 

many and became a real bone of contention. 

Peasant Opposition 
After the promulgation of the Ottoman Land Code in 1858, there 

was a growing tendency for land to be concentrated in fewer private 
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land not hands. This law required the registration of agricult tural 
t 

previously registered in the name ot individual owners 
was untl 

made that time, treated as communal land. The new law, hom was ung 
however, 

avoid many peasants fearful of registering because they wanted ade 

taxation and other forms of state control. 

On the other extreme, the Wealthy uPper class who were ca capa 
ble 

of cheating the system, registered large tracts of land in their 

The biggest beneficiaries were the mercnants of Haifa, Beint 

law Jaffa. They acquired the land after the introduction of the 185R 

Their sale of land to the Jews, expulsion of tenant farmers and 

settlement of Jewish immigrants led to violent clashes. The local 

peasants were inhabitants of these fertile lands for generations 

which they considered their own. Many of them were shocked 
when they were suddenly informed to vacate the land they had 

farmed and resided on for generations leaving them for European 

local 

Jews. 
One famous confrontation occurred in Mullabis village, about 

eleven miles north east of Jaffa, where a group of Jewish settlers 

from Europe had bought some land in 1878. They established an 

agricultural colony, Petah Tikva, which remained aloof from 

neighboring Palestinian villages. They ordered local peasants to stop 
grazing in the land. The peasants continued, howeve, and this ed 

to confrontation in March 1886. This was one of the earliest 

recorded clashes of the modern era against Zionist occupation. 

Several years later, in 1901, an attempt by the JCA to purchase 
seventy thousand dunums of land in the Lower Galilee wad 
with resistance from the Arab villagers in al-Shajara, ibi Melhamiyah. The Beirut based families, Sursuqs 

ase 

met 

a, and 

Suqs, their busi ness 

affiliates, the Tuenis and Mudawwars, sold this land to the What haPpened in al-Shajara was, in reality, a continuauo 

Jews 

of the 

in 1909 and in Afula in 1910-11 after Elias Sursuq aghboring sell 
resistance started at Petah Tikva. It was again played out n 

out in Tiberias 

agreed to 
the neighboring 

Confrontation with the Zionists was inevitable De in the 

some land fifteen miles away from al-Shajarah in the district of Nazareth to the JNE. 
"ause every 

purchase resulted in the displacement of the local inhaD se of 

the 

case of Afula, it seemed even more predictabie v by Sa 

ln 

its 

historical significance. Afula was the site of a fortress Dl al-Din al-Ayubi after he defeated the Crusaders at ia 

Salah 

1187 
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Any attempt by foreigners to occupy the town was, therefore, Sure 

to meet with local resistance. 

The Western Wall 

Palestinian opposition to the Zionist project took a new and 

signiticant turn immediately after the granting of the Balfour 

Declaration. Encouraged by British support, the Zionists went on to 

make more demands, in particular demanding the handing over of 

the Wailing Wall. The Wailing or Western Wall also known to 

Muslims as Buraq Wall is an integral part of the western bOundary 

wall of the Noble Sanctuary of al-Aqsa, which the Jews believe is all 

that remains of Herod's Temple from the 63 BC. 

In a letter dated 30 May 1918, Chaim Weizmann wrote to Foreign 

Secretary Balfour demanding 'only one [holy place] which is..left 

to us...Our most sacred monument, in our most sacred city, is in the 

hands of some Moghreb religious community... 
Weizmann's letter to Balfour coincided with a similar one to the 

Mufti of Jerusalem, apparently concerning the land but not the Wall. 

The Mufti's response was that the land in question was endowed 

property (waqf), which according to Islamic law could not be sold, 

mortgaged or leased. 

One of the earliest resistance leaders to the occupation of 

Palestinian land was Amin Husayni, a member of the prominent 

Jerusalemite family which held the position of mufti of the city ever 

since the beginning of the seventeenth century. In 1912 he was sent 

to study in Cairo where he became, under the influence of Shaykh 

Rashid Rida, a prominent Muslim scholar. After realizing the dangers 

posed by the growth of the Jewish population in Palestine, which 

rose from 25,000 in 1882 to 85,000 in 1914, he began to form a 

Palestinian society to oppose Zionism. 

After serving briefly in the Turkish army during the war, Amin 

Husayni returned to Jerusalem in February 1917 and became part of 

the Nascent Nationalist Movement. He was elected president of the 

Arab Club (al-Nadi al-Arabi) which, together with the Literary Club 

(al-Muntada al-Adabi) and the Christian-Muslim Association (al- 
Jamiya al-Islamiya al-Masihiya) formed in 1918, became the main 

organizations to champion the Palestinian cause. 

During the first Palestine National Congress held between 27 

January and 9 February 1919 Husayni encouraged the adoption of a 
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pan-Arabist line. He called for a Vigorous anti-Zionie 

a.4 On 27 
st campaig 

February under the banner of Palestinian unity with Syria.: On 

erusalem, 
Paign 

Jafa 1920 Amin Husayni organized peacerul marches in Jenieabnan 

ouncemert 
that he was going to enforce the Balfour Declaration Tunceme 

pport of 

and Haifa to protest against the Chiet Administrator's . 

ration. The folowing 
in 

month he organized similar marches across Palestine in 
laimed Kin Sherif Hussayn's son, Faisal, who was then proclaimed KinOTof Syria 

from 
Nations ratifie 

power by the French in July 1920 after the League of Nations ra 

their mandate over the country. 
Amin's political influenc 

by the Syrian National Congress. However, he was isted 

Was 

Kamil 
substantially enhanced after April 1921 when he succeeded K 

Husayni as the Grand Mufti of Jerusalem. 

i0us 
This early phase of Palestinian resistance took a more serio 

tempo in 1929 when thousands of Jewish para-military groups and 

settlers from outlying areas marched into Jerusalem and hoisted the 

Zionist flag at the Western Wall of al-Aqsa Mosque shouting 'the Wall 

is ours!' Muslims believe that it was at this Wall that the Prophet 

Muhammad (peace be upon him) tied his celestial animal, Buraq 

before his miraculous ascent into the heavens and, despite, this 

shared the wall with the Jews for over a thousand years. 

As a result of the provocation, bloody battles broke out in 

Jerusalem on 23 August 1929 and quickly spread to many other 

parts of Palestine. Popularly known as the Buraq Uprising, the 

clashes ended with hundreds of deaths on both sides. More than 
133 Jews and 116 Palestinians were killed. Most of the Palestinian 

were killed by British troops.4 

Points of Review 

Palestinian opposition to the Zionist project started long De 
the First World War 

by Controntation was inevitable because every purchase or lai 
the Zionists led to the displacement of local peasants. 
Zionist claims to the Western Wall provoked the suspl 
anger of the Palestinian people. 

Questions 
1. How did the Ottoman Land Code of 1858 help the Zionio anis 2. What measures did the Palestinian people adopt to Te 

Zionism 

before 1922? 

3. Explain the causes of the 1929 Buraq Uprising. 
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Chapter 9 

Origins of Armed Resistance 

Although Muslim leaders vwere greatly disturbed by the Zionist 

project, the emergence of an organized movement in Palestine did 

not come about until the 1930s. Of course, their political and social 

influence began to manifest itself much earlier. Soon after becoming 

president of the Supreme Muslim Council in January 1922, Amin 

Husayni embarked upon a vigorous diplomatic campaign to win 

the support of Muslims and of Arab countries. He sent delegations 

to fellow Muslim leaders to enlighten them about the Zionist threat 

and to rally their political and financial support.1 

In the immediate aftermath of the 1929 Buraq (Western Wall) 

Uprising, Muslims began to show some concern for the 

Palestinians. Acting in his capacity as Mufti of Jerusalem, Hajj Amin 

Husayni called upon Muslims everywhere to demonstrate their 

solidarity with the Palestinian people by declaring 16 May 1930 

Palestine Day and observing a general strike on the occasion. 

Several countries responded positively. Many of them later 

complied with the Mufti's request and sent representatives to the 

International Commission of Inquiry convened by the League of 

Nations and British government in Jerusalem in October 1930. 

After considering extensive written and verbal evidence, the 

International Commission reached a unanimous verdict in 

December 1930. that: 

The sole ownership to the Western Wall belonged to the 

Muslims; 
The pavement in front of the Wall and the adjacent Maghrebi 

(Moroccan) Quarter belonged to the Muslims; 

the Jews shall have access to the Western Wall for religious 

devotion - subject to certain stipulations. 

The verdict of the Commission became national and international 

law in 1931 after the mandatory power, Britain, and the Council of 

the League of Nations accepted it. Thus the Palestine (Western or 

Wailing Wall) Order in Council' was signed at Buckingham Palace 

on 19 May 1931 and the British High Commissioner for Palestine 

Was ordered to enforce it from the 8 June 1931. 
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ommission, t 
Encouraged by the results of the International 

His efforts culminated in the staging of a General 1 c Sun 
in Jerusalem in December 1951. Many distinguich 

participated in the Congress. They included the dele 

Shaykh Rashid Rida, Shawkat Ali the leader of me 
Movement in India, Muhammad lqbal the famous no 

Mufti stepped up his campaign to win Arab and Islan 
uppon c Congres 

delegates 
he Caliphate 

and Allama Diya al-Din al-Tabatabani of Iran. The declared ophe 
the Congress was to examine the condition of Isl 

sopher 
aim o 

slam and the 
measures to be taken to protect its interests. The real undecare 
aim, which the Mufti later confirmed, was to investigate 

Zioni 
ared ared 

danger in Palestine.2 

Shaykh lzz al-Din Qassam 

By the time Haj Amin gained recognition, outside of Palestin. 

people 
stine, as a Palestinian national figure in the late 1920s many of his 

had become disillusioned and impatient with the policies af 

British mandatory. His moderate political methods of conferences 

peaceful demonstrations and sit-ins seemed incapable of stemming 

the rising tide of Jewish immigrants into the country. As the 

persecution of Jews in Europe escalated their numbers grew from 

4,075 in 1931 to 9,553 in 1932, 30,327 in 1933, 42,359 in 1934 and 
61,854 in 1935. It was from amid this situation that Shaykh Izz al- 
Din Qassam emerged to organize an alternative - military -

approach to the Zionist challenge. 

he 

Shaykh Qassam was born in Jebla, a Syrian village, in 18713 
From a very young age he was known for his leanings to serious 

thought and reflection. He journeyed to Egypt and studied at Azhar 
University (1896-1906). While in Cairo, he came under the influence 
of reformist scholars like Shaykh Muhammad Abduh (1849-1905) 
and Shaykh Rashid Rida (1865-1935). The latter two, along with 
their mentor Jamal al-Din al-Afghani (1838-97), played a leading 

role in what became known as the Islamic Revivalist Moven 
Their main aim was to help the Muslim Ummah (Commu adjust to the challenges of the modern world while adhering to 

their fundamental beliefs and identity. 
After returning to his native Syria, Shaykh Qassam came 

actively involved in Islamic propagation and teaching. Un traditionalist scholars he, however, encouraged participatior
by politics. He later translated his anti-colonial rhetoric into plae 
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partaking in the leadership of the Syrian national uprising against 
the French between 1918-1920. When the French military 
authorities sentenced Shaykh Qassam to death in absentia he fled 
the country and settled in the Palestinian port-city of Haifa in 1921. 

Shortly after his arrival, Shaykh Qassam gained employment at 

the prestigious Burj Islamic school in Haifa where he taught for 
three or four years. In 1925 he became the imam of al-Istiqlal 

mosque when it was opened that year. The mosque soon became 

very famous because of Shaykh Qassam. His Friday sermons, which 
were renowned for their clarity of thought and force of conviction, 
attracted people from far and wide. 

It is believed that as early as 1925 Shaykh Qassam began to 

recruit members for his movement against the Zionists and British.4 

Toward this end, he benefited from his position as imam of al- 

Istiqlal mosque and later as an appointed marriage registrar for the 

Haifa Shari'ah court in 1928. This latter appointment entailed 
extensive travel and contact with people throughout the Haifa 

district. Through this intimate interaction and service in the 

community, the Shaykh's popularity grew both in the urban and 

rural areas. 

Although the Qassamite Movementî (as they came to be known) 
did not proclaim its existence until much later on, it did carry out a 

number of military operations in the period between 1930-33. 
These early forays, it appears, were intended to season his 

indivicdual members and at the same time test the British, Zionist 
and even Arab response. On 5 April 1931 the group carried out a 

raid on the Yajour settlement road and killed three Jews. This was 

followed by a number of similar secret operations. The Qassamites 
Were now waiting for the appropriate time to openly declare armed 

liberation struggle against the British and Zionists. 

Meanwhile, the political crisis in Palestine reached its boiling 
point in 1935 with the acceleration of Jewish immigration into the 

country and the indifference of the British Mandatory to the 
demands of the Palestinian Arabs. Tensions were further heightened 
when news began to circulate of the discovery of a large quantity 
of smuggled weapons for the Jews. 

Having decided to embark on armed resistance, Shaykh Qassam 
ad some of his close associates decided to withdraw to the Ya'bad 

mountain near Jenin in late October 1935. They were about sIxteen 
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men altogether. He sold his house in Haifa and I 

sold their furniture and their wives' jewelry in companions fina thej 
rote to his "] have confidence 

campaign. Before his departure, Shaykh oaso. sam 
linane 

myself, that my voice will be echoed everywhere afte dence 

urge you to call upon Allah, hoping that our protect. 

friend Rashid al-Hajj Ibrahim affirming; "I have co to h 

Almighty would bless our work in the service of our country" 8 

On the morning of the 20 November 1935 a contingent 

Qassam 
four hundred police mainly British - surrounded Shavkh about 

After a 
and his associates in the village of Shayk Zayd near Ya'bad. 

four 
lengthy gun-battle that lasted for four and half hours 

iv 
Qassamites including Shaykh Qassam were martyred and f 

others captured. 

The killing of Shaykh Qassam and his companions sent shock 

waves throughout Palestine. About thirty thousand mourners titned 
out for his funeral procession. The occasion took the form of a 

political event and furious calls were raised for revenge. Shavkh 

Qassam's death brought about a fundamental change in the course 
of the Palestinian national movement. After years of fruitless political 
negotiations, it reinforced the idea of armed struggle as the only 
way to gain national liberation. As one British intelligence officer 
pointed out shortly after, the nationalist leaders would have to 

satisty public opinion and try a new course of action, as all their 
previous efforts in protest, demonstrations, public meetings, etc. had 
failed to attain their object", 10 

Points of Review 

By the late 1920s many Palestinians had become disillusioned 
and impatient with the policies of the British mandatory 
The emergence of an organized Islamic movement in Palesune 

did not come about until the 1930s. 
Shaykh Qassam found greater satisfaction working with tnc P 0or 
and underprivileged rather than notables and dignitaries. 

Questions 
1. What were the main findings of the International Comnuoo Inquiry set up after the Buraq uprising' 2. Briefly discuss the objectives and methodology ot aa 

sam. 

l a dical 3. Explain the view that al-Qassam's death brought about di 

change in the Palestinian national movement 
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Chapter 10 

The 1936 Uprising and its Suppression 

With the passing of Shaykh Qassam the Palestinian Nationalist 

Movement lost one of its most respected leaders. His position at the 
helm of the emerging Jihadist Movement was short-lived but his 

ideas survived well beyond the 1930s. In the circumstances the 

shaykh's greatest legacy were the seeds of resistance and sacrifice,
which he sowed throughout Palestine during his lecture tours. For 

many Palestinians, he came to symbolize the selflessness that was 

noticeably absent in many other leaders. 

The tension that overshadowed the country after Shaykh 

Qassam's death needed a single spark to enflame the situation. This 
came on the evening of 15 April 1936 when an armed band of 

Arabs led by the Qassamite commander, Shaykh Farhan al-Sa'adi, 
attacked a convoy of cars traveling between Bal'a and Anabta in 

the Tulkaram region, killing one Jew and wounding two others. 

The following night, Jewish militiamen retaliated and killed two 

Arab farmers while they slept.1 This pattern of tit for tat killings 

quickly escalated and threatened to engulf the whole country. 

The Strike 

The Qassamite assault on the Jewish caravan did much more 

than provoke a cycle of attacks and counter-attacks. On the political 

front, it cleared the way for the declaration of a general strike on 19 

April, which continued for six months thereafter. In Nablus, a 

committee of local leaders led by Ahmad al-Shak'a and Akram 

Zu'aytir took the initiative and called the strike. Similar committees

were formed in other cities like Haifa, Jenin, Tulkarm and Jernusalem 

which soon joined in the protest. The popular demand everywhere 

Was, "independence for Palestine" and an end to Jewish 

immigration.
The organizers of the strike had little experience in national 

politics. Hence they turned to the religious leaders and wealthy 

Tamilies for guidance. One week after the strike had begun a 

neeting was held in Jerusalem between a delegation from Haifa led 

Dy Rashid al-Hajj Ibrahim, Hajj Amin, Raghib Nashashibi and 

Husayn Khalidi, the mayor of Jerusalem.
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ed to put Forced by public pressure, this disparate group decider 
aside their long-standing family rivalries and political differe ences for 

Higher Arab the common good. They formed on 25 April the Hies for 

Committee (HAC - al-Lajna al-Arabiya al-'Ulya). 

The formation of the HAC in 1936 was an important landma 
was considered the first attempt at rorging Palestinian national n 

after the collapse of the Palestine Arab Executive in 1934. Durin 
the 
a previous decade, Palestinian politics was largely dominated h 

small group of officials who served in the Ottoman administrati 
Palestine. Prominent among them were Musa Kazim Husavuni 

Raghib Dajani and Raghib Nashashibi. They led to what was know 

in 

as the Palestine Arab Executive. 

One reason for the weakness and ultimate demise of the 

Executive was the bitter rivalry between the Husayni and 

Nashashibi camps. The final collapse of the body in 1934 brought 
the mufti of Jerusalem, Haj Amin, one step closer toward becoming 

the paramount leader of the Palestinian National Movement. Shaykh 
Qassam's death in 1935 opened the leadership vacuum even wider. 

It was into this situation Haj Amin stepped after the formation o 
the HAC in 1936. 

The Palestinian general strike was considered the longest ever 
the history of the Middle East. It brought acute hardship to tn 

population of the urban centers where the impact of econoi 

stagnation and loss of trade was most felt. In the rural areas, 

peasants fared much better and in some instances had enoug 
supply armed groups operating in the hills. 

Britain's response to the revolt was harsh and uncompro When the detention of community leaders and activISts a have any impact, the Mandatory authorities resorted to collective punishment. Entire villages and cities were ma heavy fines for supporting the resistance. The port-city 

Isures of 

especially singled out because of its key role in org rban 

ity of Jaffa 
was 

coordinating the strike. Thus, acting under the gui e 
"urban 

homes renewal" the British ordered the demolition of hundreds iohboring of homes 

organizing and 

of 

in the city and more than one thousand others in a i village in June.3 
a neighborin 

In July 1936 the authorities imposed a state ot nanaland throughout Palestine. Fresh troops were brought in ro anks heavily armed and equipped with machine guns a 

martial law 

in from Englan 
ins and tanks 
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Restrictions on Jewish immigration was lifted and special "Night Sauads" were formed between British troops and Jewish settlers to attack Palestinian villages. During the first four months of the revolt 
at 

many atrocities were committed. It is believed the British dynamited five thousand houses and executed one hundred and forty eight orisoners in Acre prison alone. None of this massive use of force was enough to crush the revolt, 

On the face of it, the Palestinians were willing to maintain their 
strike action for as long as possible with the hope that it might lead 
to their independence. In this regard, they were supported byy solidarity committees formed in Damascus, Baghdad, Cairo and 
Beirut. In Syria, its people extracted a promise of self-government 
from the French after they staged a fifty-day strike. Similarly in 
Egypt, anti-British demonstrations in November 1935 brought about 
the resumption of negotiations between Britain and Egypt for a 
treaty of independence. Against this background the Palestinians 
viewed their protest as a means of enhancing their bargaining 
position and forcing the hand of the British. 

End of Strike Action 

In spite of its ferocity, the measures adopted by the Mandatory 
authority failed to break the will of the Palestinian population. It, 
however, had a deterring effect upon the HAC whose members 
Continued to vie among themselves in order to preserve their 

personal and family interests either as landlords, employers, heads 
of villages, or clans. This was visibly seen in the widening gulf of 
mistrust between Raghib Nashishibi on the one hand and Hajj Amin 
on the other. After several months it became all too clear that the 

HAC had neither the commitment nor will to make the necessary 
Sacrifices to bring about Palestinian independence. 

The Committee's decision to call off the strike early in 

NOvember 1936 was generally regarded as the end of the first 
pnase of the revolt. It brought about a brief lull to the violence, 
wich had continued unabated since April. The decision to end the 
uike was largely influenced by the intervention of King Ghazi of 

4, King Abdul Aziz of Saudi Arabia and Amir Abdullah of 
ansjordan. In a passionate appeal published in Palestinian

Spapers, they urged the Palestinian Arabs to end the revolt newspa 
because "we use "we rely on the good intentions of our friend Great Britain, 
Who has declared that she will do justice".
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became Some sources recalled that the Arab "client kings" hen. 

involved at the behest of Britain. By the end of the summ 

1936, the Mandatory authority had grown increasingly fearful thao 

lso the revolt would not only Sweep them away from power but 
the Zionist colonizers and traditional Palestinian leadership as well4 

In the case of the HAC, they welcomed the intervention of the 

rulers. Under the apparent cover of collective Arab responsibility

enabled the Committee to call off the strike and somehow not lo 

face with their people. 

The ending of the strike in November 1936 brought to a close 
the first phase of the revolt. It also marked, according to some 

historians, the beginning of otficial Arab involvement in the 
Palestine Question.5 Britain was not, however, prepared to support 

and encourage Arab unity on Palestine. When the Royal (Peel) 

Commission of Inquiry was set up in November 1936 to investigate 

the causes and motives of the revolt, Britain refused to accept a 

joint Iraqi and Saudi government representation. Ever since, Arab 
unity on Palestine was obstructed and, indeed, subverted by 

western governments to secure their regional interests and protect 

Zionist gains. 

Arab 
it 

The Peel Commission 

Shortly before the arrival of the Royal Commission in Palestine, 
the British Colonial Secretary, W.G. Ormsby-Gore, announced in 

the House of Commons that there would be no suspension of 

Jewish immigration during the inquiry. The Palestinians interpreted
this as an insult that was piled upon the wounds they suffered in 

previous months. Thus, the HAC decided to boycott the 

Commission for most of the period that it conducted its work im 
Palestine. They were eventually persuaded by the Kings Ibn Saud 
and Ghazi to participate. 

Although the Commission returned to Britain in January 1937, its 

report was not released until 7 July that year. Much of the interim 

months were spent in consultation with British politicians and 
Zionists leaders. After concluding that it was impossible to reso olve 

the Palestine Question within the framework of the Mandatory
set 

up, the Commission recommended the termination of the mand 
on the basis of partition of the country between Jews and Arabs 

With special enclaves created for Jerusalem, Bethlehem a 
nd 

Nazareth under a new mandate. 
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While the Zic the Zionists accepted the recommendations of the Peel ion. the Palestiniarns rejected them out of hand. Although Co mission recommended only 20 percent of Palestine for the 
the commissi 

tate. the Zionists welcomed the idea because they knew it 
Jewish 

ha 
e formed the basis for a much larger state. On their part, 

could 

Palestinians vi Palestinians viewed the proposals as a denial of their right to 
endence as provided for in Article 22 of the Charter of the 

League of Nations. 

Back in London, the British government, like the Zionists, 
nnounced its favor with the Commissions recommendations. On 20 

July Whitehall issued a Statement of Policy "expressing general 
July 
agreement with the arguments and conclusions of the 

Commission..". This was evidently a moment of truth. The aims of 

Britain's Jewish national home policy were no longer concealed in 

ambiguity. The Statement of Policy said, 

..there is an irreconcilable conflict between the aspirations of 
the Arabs and the Jews in Palestine, that these aspirations cannot be 

satisfied under the terms of the present mandate, and that a scheme 

of partition on the general lines recommended by the Commission 

represents the best and most hopeful solution to the deadlock...

More Violence 
The release of the Peel report provoked an immediate outburst 

of violence throughout Palestine. On this occasion, it raged to 

levels of greater intensity and fury than before. Palestinian mistrust 

Was, presumably, fuelled by the withdrawal of the Nashishibi 

faction from the HAC on 3 July 1937. Many locals feared this move 

was a prelude to an alliance between the Nashishibis and Amir 

ADdullah in Jordan in order to enforce the partition. In the weeks 

hat preceded the publication of the report, rumors abounded in 

ralestine that Britain had intended to partition the country. 

he British linked this new wave of violence with the Mufti of 

usalem, archrival of the Nashishibis. They decided to arrest and 

t him from Palestine. When gunmen shot Mr. L.Y Andrews, 

Ma 
th e 

ct commissioner of Galilee on 26 September 1937, he 

Palestinian leadership. The HAC was declared illegal and some tory authority found a convenient excuse to move on the 

Mandatory 
ts members were rounded up and deported to the Seychelles 

m 

l Ocean. As for the Mufti, he got wind of the British plan the Indian Ocea 
and manag to slip out of the country after weeks. 
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did not put 
The arrest and deportation of Palestinian leaders did no 

it 

end to the revolt. Instead, it enflamed the situation and ma de worse. Neither the repressive measures adopted by the Mandator government nor its increased cooperation with the Zionists 

helped Indeed, the resistance began tO attract more fighters into its anks. headquarters was set up in Damascus to coordinate the esistance (al-Lainah al-Markaziyah lil Jihad) under the leadership of Izzat 
the 

A 

Darwaza and the Mufti from his base in Beirut. In Palestine itself 

most important leaders were ADaur Rahim Hajj Muhamm 
ITulkarem), Aref Abdul Razaq INablusl, Abdul Qadir Husavr 

Jerusalem and Yusuf Abu Durra [GalileeB 
The revolt reached its climax in the summer of 1938. City after 

city fell to the Palestinian resistance as the mandatory authority 
collapsed. From their strongholds in the hills the resistance leaders 
established administrative offices, intelligence centers and special 
courts to try collaborators. The growing strength of the resistance 
during this period led to a sizeable exodus of rich Palestinians and 
pro-government notables. 

Following the resistance capture of the old city of Jerusalem in 
October 1938, Britain stepped up its counter attack and poured 
more troops into Palestine. It called upon the might of two military divisions, squadrons of airplanes, local police, the Transjordan Frontier Force, and 6,000 Jewish auxiliaries. They outnumbered the 
Palestinians ten to one. 

By the time the revolt was finally crushed in 1939 more than 

5,000 Palestinians were killed and over 15,000 were injured. War 
was then looming in Europe and Britain became as it was during the First World War, in need of Arab support. 

Meanwhile, the Palestine Partition Commission headed by Sir 
John Woodward, which started work in April 1938 published its
report on 9 November 1938. It dismissed the Peel Partition Plan as 

impractical. Britain called a conference in London (February-Marc With the apparent aim of imposing a solution on both parties. failed to produce a conclusive result. 
Thus in 1939 Britain issued a White Paper to impose its ow view. It marked a complete about turn from the partition polcy The White Paper read, "His Maiesty's Government believe that u the 

framers of the mandate in which the Balfour Declaration wa embodied could not have intended that Palestine should De converted into a Jewish State against the will of the Ara 
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lation of the country". The paper issued on 17 May 1939 stated popu. 

wa: 
as the objective of the British government to establish an that it 

independent 
nendent Palestinian state within ten years in treaty relations 
with the UJK. the UK. This resulted in a parting of the ways between Britain 
and the he Zionists. The latter turned to the United States of America. 

Zionists. The 

of the twentieth century they remained the dominant For the rest of 

power not only in Palestinian but the whole of the Middle foreign power no 

East. 

Points of Review 

. The formation of the HAC in 1936 was regarded as the first 

attempt at forging Palestinian national unity after the collapse of 
the Palestine Arab Executive. 

.The Palestinians viewed the Peel Commission recommendations 
as a denial of their right to independence as provided for in 
Article 22 of the Charter of the League of Nations. 

Zionist disappointment with the 1939 White Paper marked the 
end of a chapter in relations with Britain and the beginning of a 
new one with the United States. 

Questions 
1. What in your view were the main reasons for the ineffectiveness 

of the HAAC? 
2. Why was the general strike called off in 1936? 

3. Comment on the significance of the 1939 White Paper. 
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Chapter 11 

War and Diplomacy 

In his drive to build a world empire under Nazi control, Hitler 
ordered his troops into Poland on 1 September 1939. Suddenly, the 
survival of Britain and France as world pOwers was seriously 
threatened. They, in response, declared war on Germany on 3 
September. Thus began the Second World War which like the Fitst 
World War, had far-reaching consequences on the Middle East and 

Palestine especially. 

On 10 June 1940, Italy entered the war on the side of Germany 
and declared war on Britain. Two days later the Italians bombed the 
eastern Sudanese town of Kassala. This was not simply a challenge 
to British interests in the Nile valley but also its influence in the Red 
Sea and Palestine. With the completion of the oil refinery in Haifa in 
June 1940, Palestine's strategic importance became ever more crucial 
for the British, who relied on supplies from the oilfields of Iraq and 
Abadan in Iran. 

With the outbreak of World War II, the Zionists decided to step 
up their campaign to transform Palestine into a Jewish state. In 
1938 David Ben Gurion, then Chairman of the Jewish Agencyy recollected: "The First World War brought us the Balfour 
Declaration; the Second ought to bring us the Jewish State" Toward this end, the Zionist Executive issued a statement on 3 September 1939 pledging their support for Britain in the war. lt 
read reassuringly: "Our opposition to the White Paper was, however, never directed against Great Britain or the British 
Empire".2 

After the dramatic German military successes across Europe, Britain could not afford to make any major troop deployments the Middle East. As was the case at the beginning of the First World 
War, Britain was in dire need of Arab support. Indeed, it needed to 
bring about some measure of calm in Palestine in order to conduct its war effort. 

Driven by the need to secure its interests in the region, Britainn 
decided to make the generous offers enclosed in the 1939 White 
Paper and promise support for Arab independence throughout tne 
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or all its worth, the Higher Arab Committee rejected the 
region. For 

te Paper. 
hile it welcomed Britain's tentative recognition of 

White Paper. Whi 

W 
Arab 

rights, a statement from the Committee's headquarters in Beirut 

in's failure to recognize Palestinian independence. In deplored Britain's failure 

fact, 
the general feeling among the Palestinian Arabs was that the 

Britis propOsals su 

Reitish proposals subjected their independence to the cooperation 

and even approval and even approval of the Zionist aspiration. This was contrary to 

their slogan, heir slogan, 
"Palestine will get its independence within the Arab 

Hitler 
, the 

ously 
federation and remain Arab forever" 3 

on 3 
Palestinian Setbackss 

Despite the promises contained in the White Paper Britain took 

no immediate steps to form a representative government in 

Palestine. On the contrary, it tightened its grip over the country and 

brought the three-year old revolt to an effective end. With the 

outbreak of the Second World War several Arab countries hastened 

First 

and 

many 
d the 

lenge 
Red 

to declare their support for the allies against Nazi Germany, placing 

at their disposal their armies, naval bases, airports, oil reserves and 

storage facilities. In the case of the Palestinians, some nine thousand 

volunteers joined the British war effort. They hoped that on this 

OCcasion their sacrifices would not go unrewarded as had been the 

case after the First World War. 

ifa in 

rucial 
and 

step 
te. In 

zency 
Ifour 

Not all Palestinians were, however, prepared to support the 

British. Many of them were embittered by the decision of the 

VIctorious powers to place their country under a mandatory 
ate".1 
on 3 aaministration - which they viewed as a disguised form of colonial 

rule rather than recognize them as a fully independent and 
ar. It 

HAC, Hajj Amin, sought refuge in Lebanon, Iraq, Iran, Italy and 

SOVereign people. Somehow motivated by the principle, 'my 
was, 

cemy's enemy is my friend,' they turned toward the Axis powers. 

er evading several attempts to arrest him the exiled leader of the Aft ritish 

then Germany in November 1941.4 1rope, 
nts in 

World e in Berlin, Haj Amin met with the Nazi leader, Adolf Hitler, 

led to 

onduct 
ind 
who promised unstinting German support for Palestinian 

ndependence Naznence and self-determination. The mufti made several pro- 
Arabs. Nazi radio v broadcas in which he accused Britain of betraying the 
Arabs. When Germans nen the Allies intensified their bombing of Berlin, the 

ns decided to transfer Hajj Amin to France in May 1945. 
collaboration

Britain 
White 

Were exno with the Nazis did not bear the political dividends that 

*pected, For one thing the mufti lost credibility with a 
were exp out the 
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significant section of the Palestinian society. On another level, it 

gave the Zionists a great opportunity to deflect attention from their 

own crimes in Palestine by accusing him of responsibility for the 

massacre of Jews in Europe. 
Zionist Gains 

Whereas the Arabs failed to make significant progress toward 
their national objectives during the War, the Zionists registered rapid 

successes. The latter quickly shelved their opposition to the 1939 

White Paper and offered their support against Nazi Germany, which 
Was now escalating its campaign of terror against the Jews. 

In Palestine, the Jewish Agency viewed the War as a golden 

oPportunity to advance their cause. Its leadership proposed the 
establishment of an independent Jewish division to fight alongside 
the British against the Nazis. By calling for the creation of such a 

force the Zionist leadership hoped not only to strengthen their 
claim to Palestine after the war but also contribute to the 

establishment of a regular army for their future state. 

At this stage it must be recalled that the Zionists had, from the 
very earliest days of their project, recognized the need for a strong 
military force and extreme violence in order to transform Palestine 
into a purely Jewish state. They knew, moreover, that the Arab 
population would not readily accept the usurpation of their land by 
a foreign people. Thus, throughout the first quarter of the twentieth 
century a number of Jewish military forces were set up in Palestine. 

In 1907 the Hashomer (the Guardian) was formed to provide security for the settlements. Later, when the First World War broke 
out the extremist Zionist leader Vladimir Jabotinsky formed the 
"Jewish Legion" to fight alongside the British. Four Jewish battalions 
of the Royal Fusiliers (38th, 39th, 40th, and 41st) fought under their 
own flag. Following the disbandment of the Legion after the War, 
an unofficial Jewish army - the Haganah - was formed under the 
leadership of Jabotinsky in the period 1919-1920.5 

From the time of its inception the Haganah started to stockpile 
weapons in various parts of the country. Much of these were 

obtained through smuggling activities conducted largely with the 
collusion of Jewish customs officials employed in the mandatory 

administration. This military cooperation between the Zionists and 

British mandatory continued right into the 1940s. Haganah units 
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trained by the British car 

regime in Syria. 

In 1941 a special Commando unit, the Palmach, (an acronym for Dli1gOt Machatz, shock brigades) was formed. By 1943 there were an ctimated 43,000 Jewish volunteers in Palestine under arms.6 They 
were for all intents and purposes, controlled by the Haganah, who 
had by then embarked upon the production of arms in Palestine. 
when the British government finally bowed to their long-standing 
demand and recognized the establishment of the Palestine Jewish 
Rrigade in 1944, it seemed only a matter of time before this army in 

waiting would launch its decisive assault to engineer the birth of the 

itish carried out operations against the pro-AXIS 

Zionist state. 

Diplomacy and the United States 

As early as 1942, officials in the British Foreign and Colonial 

Offices were convinced that the Zionists had decided "to resort to 

direct action" if they failed to secure a post-war settlement 

compatible with their aspirations.7 The clearest evidence of this 
came on 11 May 1942 at a meeting of the American Zionist 

Organization held at the Biltmore Hotel in New York. Chaired by 
David Ben Gurion, president of the Executive Committee of the 

Jewish Agency, the conference's six hundred delegates unanimously 
adopted a programme demanding, "that Palestine be established as 
a Jewish Commonwealth". From this point on, the Zionist movement 

dropped the vague diplomatic language of the "national home" and 

openly pursued its goal of a Jewish state in Palestine. 

The Biltmore Declaration received wholehearted support in 

many sectors of American society. President Theodore Roosevelt, 

the political parties, investors and the media praised the programme 
Or what they termed its 'realism'. Apart from its basic demand of a 

Jewish state in all of Palestine, the Biltmore Declaration also called 
Or the rejection of the 1939 White Paper and unlimited immigration 

Jews into the country under the sole control of the Jewish 

gency. These objectives were ratified by a special committee of 
the Zionist Organization on 10 November 1942 in Jerusalem and, 

hence, became the official programme of Zionism.8 
OWithstanding its declared intent to implement the 1939 White 

inL8ardless 
Pa 

of the Jewish or Arab opposition, Britain seemed 

esa do so after the Biltmore Conference. Faced with an 

O terrorist attacks from Zionist extremists and diplomatic 
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pressure from the Americans, Prime Minister Churchill was forced to 

appoint a cabinet committee in July 1943 to explore an alternative to 

the White Paper. Five months later the committee recommended the 
partition of Palestine. 

This latest partition plan ran into difficulty before Churchill cOula 
gain parliamentary approval for it. Though a life-long supporter of 

the Zionist cause, his task was dealt a serious blow in November 

1944 when two Zionist terrorists, Eliahu Hakim and Eliahu Bet-Zuri 

shot and killed the British Minister Resident in the Middle East, Lord 
Moyne, in Cairo. They were later tried and executed on 22 March 

1945. Moyne was a close personal friend of Churchill's and he 
served notice to the Zionists in the House of Commons on 17 

November 1944 "if our dreams for Zionism are to end in the smoke 
of assassins' pistols and our labors for its future to produce onlya 
new set of gangsters worthy of Nazi Germany, many like myself will 

have to reconsider the position we have maintained so consistently 

in the past"9 

After the War 

The end of the Second World War coincided with the election of 

a Labour government in Britain in July 1945. They won a landslide 

393 seats in the parliament as compared to 213 by the 

Conservatives. With this overwhelming control of the House the 

way had become virtually clear for the government of Prime 

Minister Clement Attlee to enforce its policies, not least of which 

concerning Palestine. 

One of the most far-reaching statements that influenced the 
policy of the new government was drawn up by the National 
Executive Committee of the British Labour Party and adopted by 

the party's annual conference in 1944. It read in part: 

Palestine surely is a case, on human grounds and to promoi 

stable settlement, for transfer of population. Let the Arabs 
encouraged to move out, as the Jews move in. Let them e 

compensated handsomely for their land and let their settlene 
elsewhere be carefully organized and generously financed. 

Immediately after taking office in 1945 Prime Minister A 
received a letter from President Truman urging him to support 

the 

rhe 
admission of 100,000 Jewish immigrants into Palestine.1 On the 

face of it the American demand amounted to a betrayal of prei 
vious 

pledges made to the Arabs. President Roosevelt had actually WI 
ritten 
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to King Abdul Aziz ibn Saud on 5 April 1945 promising that no 
decision would decision would be taken on the future of Palestine without full 
Con consultation with the Arab population and no decision would be taken that would jeopardize their interests. taken 

Similarly, Article 6 of the 1922 mandate stipulated that there 
would be no infringements upon "the rights and position of the 

other sections of the population" (Arabs). In the light of these 

assurances Attlee replied to Truman's letter warning, "It would be 

unwise to break these solemn pledges and so set aflame the whole 
Middle East", 12 

Caught as they were between Zionist demands on the one hand 
and Palestinian rights on the other, Britain and the United States 
announced in December 1945 the formation of a joint Committee of 
Inquiry to study the question of Jewish immigration. Before the 
twelve-man Committee started ts work the American Congress 
issued a statement on 19 December 1945, apparently with the intent 

of influencing the outcome of the inquiry. It referred to the 

persecution of the Jews in Europe and reaffirmed America's support 

for unrestricted Jewish immigration to Palestine and the creation of 

a national home there.13 

While in Jerusalem, the Committee heard that the entire Arab 

population was "unalterably opposed to the attempt to impose 

Jewish immigration and settlement upon it".l4 Their protests fell on 

deaf ears and the Committee's report of March 1946 recommended 

among other things, the admission of 100,000 Jewish immigrants 

into Palestine and repeal of land transfers regulations. 

Meanwhile, the Zionists welcomed the recommendations and 

demanded their immediate implementation as final steps toward the 

declaration of the Jewish state in Palestine. They were, however, 

unwilling to rely solely on diplomacy as a means to achieving their 

cctives. With generous finance and arms supplies from wealthy 

ews in the United States, after October 1945 the Zionists stepped 

P their terrorist campaigns against British installations and 

personnel in Palestine. 

certificates to Palestine was dependent upon the Zionists ending ain's response, that the issuing of 100,000 Jewish immigration 

paign of terror, brought new waves of attacks. They blew 

Toad and rail bridges across the country in June 1940. 
their campa 

O-American relations was also dealt a blow tnat dai 
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when the British Foreign Secretary, Ernest Bevin, told the ur 

Party conference meeting in Bournemouth that President Trumar 

was insistent on the immediate release of the 100,000 certificates 

because "they didn't want too many Jews in New York"15 Bevin's 

speech received wide coverage in the American media and several 

Zionist leaders demanded that the US government withhold 
financial assistance to Britain until Bevin's statement was retracted, 

When the dust from this diplomatic storm settled, American and 
British made yet another attempt to coordinate policy in July 1946. 
President Truman sent his senior diplomat, Ambassador Henry 
Grady to London for talks with Herbert Morrison, the deputy British 
Prime Minister. They recommended the partition of Palestine into 

autonomous Arab and Jewish provinces under British trusteeship 
for an unspecified period. When Britain called a conference of Arab 
and Zionist in London in September 1946 to discuss the Grady- 
Morrison proposals, both the Higher Arab Command and the 

Zionist refused to participate. 
The September 1946 conference was the last of its kind 

convened by Britain to discuss the Palestine Question before the 
creation of Israel. In the absence of any Palestinian representationna 
delegation of the Arab League rejected the Grady-Morrison 
proposals and proposed instead an undivided Palestinian state, 

governed by representatives of all the communities elected in a 
manner proportionate to their number. They also proposed that all 
future immigration and land transfers should be subject to the 
consent of the Arab population of Palestine. 

Just at the point, when it seemed that British diplomatic efforts 
were gathering pace, President Truman sabotaged them on October 1946 by announcing America's rejection of the Provincia Autonomy Scheme. In the same statement he declared his suppo for the Jewish Agency's policy of a "viable Jewish State, in control of its own immigration and economic polices, in an adequate ac of Palestine and the immediate issue of 100,000 immigrauo 

ea 

certificates as a solution of the Palestine problem" 16 In this mannel Britain was forced to wash its hand of the Palestine Question. 1nud on 4th February 1947 Foreign Secretary Bevin officially announ the decision of the British government to hand the issue Palestine over to the United Nations. 
of 
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Points of Review 

The outbreak of the Second World War created many opDortunities for the Zionists to step up their campaign to 
oppo portunitie 

transform Palestine into a Jewish state. 

AG early as 1942 officials in the British Foreign and Colonial
Offices were convinced that the Zionists had decided "to resort 

direct action" if they failed to secure a post-war settlement 
compatible with their aspirations. 

Despite its persistent demands for the transfer of 100,000 Jews to 
Palestine after 1945, President Truman's administration only 
accepted 25,000 Jews into the US between 1945 and 1948. 

Questions 
1. Explain how the Zionist movement benefited from the Second 

World War. 
2. Why was the Biltmore Conference considered a defining 

moment in the Zionist campaign to transform Palestine into a 

Jewish state? 

3. How did the allied powers betray their pledges to the 

Palestinian people? 
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The UN Partitions Palestine 

Acting without the approval of the Palestinians, the sovereign 

owners of the land, on 2 April 1947 Britain formally referred the 
question of Palestine to the United Nations. A letter from the British

government urged the Secretary General to place the issue on the 

next session of the General Assembly. At the same time, the letter 
also requested that consideration be given to the formation of a 

special committee to prepare for the discussion of the Palestine 

question at the regular session. 

Shortly thereafter, on 21 and 22 April 1947, five Arab states 
(Egypt, Syria, Iraq, Saudi Arabia and Lebanon) wrote to the 
Secretary General explaining their position. They requested that an 

additional item be added to the agenda of the proposed special 
session of the General Assembly and that the mandate be 

terminated and independence of Palestine declared forthwith. 

The Arab demand for the proclamation of Palestinian 

independence was largely based on the fact that the League of 
Nations was dissolved in April 1946. Since the mandate was 

administered through the League, they argued that it legally came to an end with the dissolution of the League. At its last meeting, held 
on 18 April 1946, the League of Nations had, indeed, adopted a 

resolution acknowledging that with its dissolution its functions, witn 
regard to the mandatories, would also come to an end. 
UNSCOP 

On 28 April 1947 the United Nations convened a special sessto of the General Assembly to consider the Palestine Question. I representatives agreed to include the item submitted by Britain 
the agenda of the next General Assembly meeting but they rejee ted 
the Arab proposal. Having accepted the British recommendation, u General Assembly formed a Special Committee on Palesu (UNSCOP) on 15 May 1947. The Committee, which consisreu 

of 
representatives from: Iran, Peru, Sweden, Uruguay, Holland, Inaa Guatemala, Yugoslavia, Czechoslovakia, Australia and Canada, wa sent to Palestine in June 1947. They announced that their misSio 
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to visit the Jewish refugee camps in Europe and examine ways 
to resettle them. 

As expected, the Higher Arab Council (HAC) refused to 

cooperate with or participate in the UNSCOP investigations for 

several reasons. Foremost among these was their dissatisfaction 
with the UN for not terminating the mandate and declaring 

Palestinian independence. In the same manner, they also objected 
to the notion of linking the Jewish refugee problem in Europe with 

the future of Palestine. 

On 31 August 1947 UNSCOP submitted its report and 
recommendations to the General Assembly. It proposed that: 

.The mandate should be terminated and Palestinian independence 

declared that a transitional period, monitored by an appointed 

UN agency should be observed and that the political system 
should be based on democratic representation with respect to the 

principles of human rights, the rights of minorities, and 

preservation of the economic unity of Palestine. 

The religious character of all holy sites be preserved. 

Only peaceful means should be adopted to bring about any 

solution and methods of threats and use of force should be 

avoided. 

Palestine should be partitioned into two states, one Arab state 

and the other Jewish. 

The UNSCOP report provoked an angered response from Arabs 

in Palestine and beyond. The first official reaction came from the 

HAC in a statement issued on 1 September 1947. It declared that, 

the UNSCOP recommendations were contrary to the most 

Tundamental principles of truth and justice as well as the national 

ghts and aspirations of the Palestinian people". The HAC 

ent further denounced the UNSCOP report "as a violation of 

e Charter of the United Nations and an affront to Muslims and 

1stians everywhere and as such should only be met with 

absolute rejection". 

The Ad Hoc Committee and its Subsidiaries 

ough both Britain and the UN recognized the HAC as the 

Presentative of the Palestinian people they disregaraed ls 

nds for independence and self-deternmination. 
Instead, the 

al Assembly went ahead on 23 September 1947 and formed an 

Ger 
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Ad Hoc Committee headed by Dr Herbert Evatt of Australia 

discuss the UNSCOP report and determine the future of Palestine. 

The Ad Hoc Committee was divided into two Sub-Committees, 

Sub-Committee 1 consisted of Canada, Czechoslovakia, Guatemala 
Poland, South Africa, the United States of America, Uruguay, USSR 
and Venezuela. They all supported the partition of Palestine. Suh. 

Committee 2 which consisted of Afghanistan Colombia, Egypt, Iraq, 
Lebanon, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia, Syria and Yemen favored a 

a to 

unitary, democratic and independent Palestine. 

By early November it was becoming ever clearer that the Ad 

Hoc Committee would eventually adopt the so-called majority 

partition plan. Events moved rapidly in this direction after 13 

November 1947 when the British delegate to the UN, Sir Alexander 

Cadogan, informed Sub-Committee 1 of his government's intention 
to complete the withdrawal of its troops from Palestine by1 August 
1948. He explained that, "British troops would not be available as 

the instrument for the enforcement of a settlement in Palestine 

against either Arabs or Jews". Some Arab historians saw the timing 
of this announcement as a deliberate attempt on the part of Britain 

to hasten a UN partition resolution and fill the vacuum that it was 

expected to leave.3 

On 24 November 1947 the Ad Hoc Committee voted on the 

recommendations of the two Sub-Committees. It voted first on the 

proposals of the Sub-Committee 2, which were: 

That the International Court of Justice should be allowed to 

determine whether the UN had any legal right to partition 

Palestine, 
An independent unitary state be declared in Palestine, 

A quota system should be established to resettle Jews in the 

member states of the UN. The Ad Hoc Committee rejected all 

three of them. 

Palestinian aspiration: to assert their independence was dealt a 

fatal blow when the Ad Hoc Committee dismissea 
the 

recommendations of Sub-committee 2 and adopted those of su 
by Committee 1. Although the vote on partition was approved 

e 
twenty-five in favour against thirteen, this result did not secure u 

necessary two-third majority for it to be adopted by the Ge 
eral 

Assembly. 
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The Final Vote 

During the next few days the Zionist lobby, backed by the 
Inited States, stepped up their campaign of political maneuvering 
Ising methods of threats and promises to win the necessary two- 
hirds vote. Until the day the final vote was scheduled, 27 
November, it was clear that the partition plan still did not have the 

required support. The Americans used the occasion of Thanksgiving Day to gain a forty-eight hour postponement, during which time 

intensive last minute lobbying was conducted.4 

It was extremely easy for the US to impose its will on the 

international community in 1947 as most of the European countries 
were dependent on American aid to rebuild themselves after the 

war. There were only four African member states of the UN at the 
time, none of which were included in the membership of UNSCOP. 

American corporations dominated the economies of all the nineteen 
Latin American member countries of the UN and, with the Soviet 
Union having declared their support for the partition plan, there 

was virtually no opposition to the American led scheme. 

On 29 November 1947 the UN General Assembly adopted 
Resolution 181, which recommended the partition of Palestine by a 

vote of 33 in favour, 13 against and 10 abstentions. The plan 

granted 57 percent of the area of Palestine to the Jews, who were 

only 33 percent of the population and owned just 6 percent of the 

land. The Arabs were awarded a state in what was equivalent to 43 

percent of the area of Palestine. 

The level of intimidation used behind the scenes to secure the 

eneral Assembly vote was particularly reflected in the experiences 

Or three small countries: Haiti, Liberia and the Philippines. All three 

4 expressed opposition to partition but were forced to change 

r position following the intervention of officials 'at the highest 

Vels in Washington', including President Truman. James Forrestal

ecretary of Defence recalled, "the methods that had been 

O bring coercion and duress on other nations in the General 

SSembly bordered closely onto scandal"? 

After the vote was taken it announced that it would do all within its 

nough Britain abstained from the vote, under the pretext that 

not participate in enforcing a solution which neither party 

a to, it quickly moved support for the partition resolution. 

it 

LO implement the resolution. Pakistan's Ambassador to the 
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UN expressed the depth f dissatistaction that was prevalent 

throughout the Arab and Islamic worlds: 

We much fear that the beneficence, if any, to which partition 

may lead will be small in comparison to the mischief which it might 

inaugurate. It totally lacks legal validity. We entertain no sense of 

grievance against those of our friends and fellow representatives 
who have been compelled, under heavy pressure, to change sides 

and to cast their votes in support of a proposal the justice and 

fairness of which do not commend themselves to them". 

By allowing itself to be used in such a scandalous manner to 

facilitate the claims of one people, the UN had done irrevocable 

damage to its credibility and prestige. It had violated one of the 

most fundamental principles of its Charter namely, "respect for the 

principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples" (Article 
1). In a legal sense, the UN had no sovereign rights of ownership of 
Palestine and had, thus, abused its power by deciding to create a 

state in Palestine for the Jews. Not being a judicial or legislative 
body the General Assembly resolution was at best only a 

recommendation. It was, accordingly, well within the rights of the 

Palestinian people to reject the partition resolution as it violated 
their right to determine their destiny on their land. 

Points of Review 

The Arabs maintained that since the mandate was administered 
through the League of Nations it legally came to an end with the 
dissolution of the League in 1946. 

All the Arab proposals to the UNSCOP including recourse to the 
International Court of Justice, were rejected. 
Several small countries were forced to abandon their opposiuo to partition in order to secure the two-third vote sought by tne 

United States. 

Questions 
1. What were some of the main reasons given by the Arab sta tes 

support Palestinian independence? 
to 

2. How did the composition and functioning of UNSCOP reflect 
prejudice against Arab interests? 

3. Explain why the UN had acted outside of its legal powers wi hen 

its 

it decided to partition Palestine. 
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Chapter 13 

Zionist Terror and the Palestinian Nakba 

Back in Palestine the news of the UN partition_ resolution evoked 
. d t· ns frotn Palestinians and Jews. While the Palestinian mixe reac 10 . . s were shocked and stunned by the dec1s1on the Jews were 

overwhelmed with joy and a sense of accomplishment with 
celebrations in the streets of Jerusalem and Tel Aviv. 

The UN had done irrevocable damage to its credibility and 
prestige by allowing itself to be used in such a scandalous manner 
to facilitate the claims of one people at the expense of another. 
Indeed, some writers argued that the world body had dealt a severe 
blow to international law by its refusal to submit the "Palestine 
Question" to the International Court of Justice. 1 

From the point of view of the Zionists there were still major 
obstacles standing before them. At the time, more than half of the 
Jewish settlers lived in three major cities: Tel Aviv, Jerusalem and 
Haifa. The Palestinian Arabs, on the other hand, were scattered 
across the length and breadth of their country. The fact that 
Palestine was already populated meant that the Zionists now had to 
turn their urgent attention to what they often referred to as the 
"Arab problem". 

Throughout the period between 1937 and 1948 Zionist leaders 
wo:ked tirelessly to finalize and execute a plan of clearing Palestine 
of its Arab population. The Jewish Agency had, in 1937, proposed 
to the Peel Commission of 1937 a secret memorandum to ensure 
the "transfer" of the Palestinian Arabs to Transjordan. 2 The proposal 
never saw _the light of day after the Palestinians rejected the Peel 
report and its recommendation of partition. 

In the subsequent years th z· . . , e iomsts continued to plan and work assiduously toward their obJ·ect· Th . . . 1ve. ey earned out a sen es of terronst attacks not only against th p 1 . . 1 B · · h ff' • e a estm1an people but a so nt1s o 1cials and installations in p 1 . h · Th a estme and other parts of t e region. e most notorious of th f the British Secretary of State ese acts w~re th~ assassination o 
1944 and the bombing of the L?rd Mo~ne m Cairo on 6 October 
July 1946 k'll' 1 Kmg David Hotel in Jerusalem on 22 

' i mg a moSt lOO British officials and Arabs. In a 
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met~~randum su~mitted to the UN in July 1947 the British 
adrrunistered Palestine Government declared. 

' When the war against Germany and Ja . pan was seen to be 
approaching a successful conclusion, the Jews brought into action 
their weapons of lawlessness and terrorism in support of the· 

. d b. u political aims an am 1tions.3 

On the W:hol~, the Zionist terror campaign was conducted by 
three organ1zat1ons. Foremost among these was the Hagana 
(Defence) whose origins go back to the late nineteenth century 
after the establishment of the first Jewish agricultural settlements in 
Palestine. The other two were the Irgun Zvei Leumi (National 
Military Organization) and the Stern Gang (Freedom Fighters of 
Israel). The former was formed in 1935 after breaking-away from 
the Hagana while the latter, which was formed in 1939, was itself a 
splinter faction of the Irgun. 

By the time of UN partition the Hagana had grown into a full­
fledged regular army in all but name. Well-trained, armed and 
organized under a central command it was now fully poised to 
adopt the role of a national army whenever the Zionist political 
leadership should proclaim their state. Thus, when Britain 
announced in December 1947 that it intended to withdraw from 
Palestine by 15 May 1948 fighting broke out immediately. The time 
had come for the Zionists to execute their proposed "Plan Dalet" -
their master plan, which according to a Haganah document of 
March 1948 was drawn up to expel as much Palestinians as they 
possibly could from their towns and villages. 4 

The Zionists began an all out attack with psychological terror 
mainly directed through the Zionist Free Radio. In order to create a 
climate of fear and hysteria the station warned villagers that major 
epidemics of cholera, typhus and similar diseases would break out 
across the country in the months of April and May. The purpose of 
Plan Dalet, according to the Israeli historian Ilan Pappe, was not 
only to grab land and expel as many Palestinians as possible but 
also to seize control of government offices and public services.5 

In their crazed campaign to 'clear' Palestine of its Arab 
Population the Zionists committed many atrocities. Salman Abu 
Sitta ' d t on Palestinian 'a renowned Palestinian de1nographer an expet . 
r~fugee affairs, recorded that the Zionists carried out at leaSt thirty­
five massacres of Palestinian civilians during the months between 
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N rtition and the end of the British Mandate.6 The wo the U pa . . rst of 
Cres was that of Deir Yassm. the massa 

. Y: si·n was a small quiet Arab village near Jerusalem 0 Deir as · n 
'd 

9 
A •1 l948 operatives from the Hagana, Irgun and St Fn ay pn ern 

. ttacked the village and slaughtered 254 men wom terrorist gangs a . ' en 
h

'ld A team from the International Red Cross was the f· and c 1 ren. . . 1rst 
.. th .11 ge after the atrocity. Its Swiss representative Jaqu to visit e vi a . . , es 

. nted 150 bodies thrown mto a cistern. Of the total de Reyrner, cou 
254 bodies that he counted, 145 were women, of whom 35 were 
pregnant. The operation, which · involv~d th~ use of machine guns 
and hand-grenades was "finished off with knives, anyone could see 
that", Reynier reported. 7 Having been . a witness of Nazi war crimes 
in Europe, Reynier said, "All I could thmk of was the SS troops I had 

seen in Athens". 
These attacks were evidently the result of political decisions 

taken by the Zionist leadership rather than responses provoked by 
military necessity. David Ben Gurion, the first Prime Minister of 
Israel advocated the destruction of the Palestinian society in all its 
dimensions as a precondition for the creation of a Jewish state on its 
ruins.8 When Britain ended its rule over Palestine on 15 May there 
were already three hundred thousand evicted Palestinians in the 
Jordan Valley, Lebanon, and Syria. 

The killings in Deir Yassin accomplished the aim of creating fear 
among the Palestinian population and speeded their flight away 
from the country after they were attacked. Count Folke Bernadotte, 
the UN mediator, mentioned in his report that the exodus of 
Palestinian Arabs resulted from a state of panic created by fighting in 
their communities and by real or alleged acts of terrorism or 
expulsion. All told, the Zionists expelled some 750 000 Palestinian 
civilians from their towns and villages in 1948. The expulsion of 
three-quarters of the p I · • . a estinian population resulted in the 
depopulation and destruction of 531 villages.9 

The sheer scale and ferocity of the Zionist attacks sent shock 
wt avteds across the. region and beyond. The United Nations had 
s ar e a process m Palest' . 
control. Stunned b h me_ m which it was no longer able to 
for it the US d y t ~ unfolding tragedy and its own responsibility 

, ramatically ann d UN 
Security Council on 19 M ounce at a meeting of the 
the partition plan Th dalrch ~948 the withdrawal of its support for 

· e e egation a d · · nnounce American recognition 
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that it was impossible to implement th .. 
f 1 o Th . e partition of Palestine except 

by orce. ey accordingly recommended that . 

establish a temporary trusteeship over Palestine until th: ~ounc1l 

the UN found a solution to the problem. Suc time that 

Encouraged by their military successes the Zionist le d h' 
. d a ers 1p was 

no more in nee of ~he UN. Ben Gurion recalled in April 1963 that 

the US about turn did not alter or undermine the establishment of 

the Jewish state. 

"Establishment of the State was not, in effect, given in the United 

Nations resolution ... although the resolution was of great moral and 

political value - but by our ability to bring about a decision in the 

country by force" .11 The Zionists' ability to impose their will on the 

international community was clearly demonstrated with the 

proclamation of their state. 

At 6.00pm Washington time, on 14 May 1948, Britain relinquished 

its self-acquired mandate over Palestine. One minute later David 

Ben Gurion proclaimed the birth of the 'State of Israel. ' Ten minutes 

later President Harry Tru1nan granted American recognition of the 

new state that was born by expelling Palestinians. The sordid nature 

of the whole affair was heightened by the fact that the United States 

delegation at the United Nations was itself unaware that their 

country had recognized the new state. They were still locked in 

negotiations with the world body to revoke the partition plan and 

establish a trusteeship over Palestine. It was the Soviet 

representative at the United Nations who actually informed his 

American counterpart that their government had recognized the 

state of Israel. 

The Phony War 

The result of the 1948 War was a fore gone conclusion before it 

started. Though often described as the Arab-Israeli War none of the 

Arab states neighboring Palestine were committed to war. It was not 

that they were caught by surprise, they knew from the disclo~ures_ of 

the Zionist leadership that war was imminent. The Zionist hist0nan 

An. • · t· " as the 
Ita Shapira wrote, force was "inherent m the s1tua ion " 

Zionist movement sought to conquer Palestine under the slogan In 

blood and fire shall Judea rise again". 12 As early as 1923 _Vladimir 

Jab · k' d f discuss10n of a 
0 tinsky asserted "there can be no tn ° 

voluntary reconciliati~n between us and the Arabs, not now and not 
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in the foreseeable future ... "13 For all their worth, however, the Arab 
governments took no heed and adopted no military strategy. 

It was only at a meeting of the council of the Arab League held 
in Lebanon during the period 7-15 October 1947 that the minist ers 
for the first time, heard a military report. Major-General Ismail Safwat 
of Iraq who submitted the report decried the military weakness of 
the Palestinians in the face of the battle tested, well organized and 
totally armed Zionist forces. The report recommended the creation 
of a joint Arab command, the recmitment and arming of volunteers 
and supply of 10,000 rifles to the Palestinians. 14 

Unfortunately for the Palestinians, the Arab states had no 
intention ~f going to war. Volumes of reports exceeding more than 
6,000 pages sent from British embassies in Cairo, Amman, Beirut, 
Damascus, Baghdad and Jeddah to London during the period all 
confirmed this. Quite astonishingly, most of these reports were 
based on information provided by Arab ministers to these British 
diplomats about what transpired in their meetings. 15 

Apart from the leakage of vital intelligence to the British the 
Palestinian cause was further damaged by the acute differences that 
existed among the various Arab governments. To begin with, the 
Palestinian leadership under the Mufti, Hajj Amin, preferred that his 
forces, Jihad al-Quds, should take full responsibility for the fighting 
and that the role of the Arab states should be confined to the 
provision of weapons and material aid only. Some Arab countries 
opposed this position. They favored a greater military role for the 
Salvation Army formed by the Arab League and led by Fawzi al­
Qawqaji, a Lebanese born officer in the Iraqi army. 

The source of discord between Hajj Amin and certain members 
of the Arab League ran much deeper than military tactics. They were 
actually rooted in major differences of approach to the Palestine 
Question. While Hajj Amin was determined to fight for the total 
liberation of Palestine after which its people would assume the reins 
of power, the governments of both Transjordan and Iraq favored the 
implementation of the partition resolution. 

Shortly before the fighting started in December 1947 King 
Abdullah told British Embassy officials in Jordan that it was 
unrealistic for the Arabs to contemplate a military victory over the 
Jews in Palestine and that they should instead come to an agreement 
with the Jews that would allow them to acquire a part of itS 
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rerritory.16 Behind this show f 

P
assionate ambition on th 

O 
apparent tolerance lay a more 

e part of the H h . 
rransjordan. That was to prevent th as em1te ruler of 

e emergence of · d 
Palestinian state under the leade. h' f h' an 10 ependent 

ts 1P o ts erstwh'l 
Mufti and at the sa1ne time annex h 

1 
1 e enemy, the 

' w at was eft of p 1 · 
incorporate it into his kingdom. a estme and 

Egypt on ~he other ha~d opposed the position of Transjordan 
and Iraq and instead supplied Ha1·1· Amin wi'th d money an weapons 
The impact of these differences between the Arab states forestalled 

any attempt to deploy an organized and effective fighting force in 

. Palestine bef~re ~~e exit of the British. Meanwhile popular legions 

were formed m cities across the region to recruit, train and dispatch 

volunteers to Palestine. Foremost among these were the Muslim 

Brotherhood centers in Cairo, Amman and Damascus. 

The Muslim Brotherhood (lkhwan al-Muslimun) 

Ever since Hasan al-Banna founded the Muslim Brotherhood in 

Egypt in March 1928 the movement played a leading role in 

championing the Palestinian cause. In August 1935 two senior 

members of the Brotherhood, Abdur Rahman Sa'ati and Muhammad 

Asad Hakim visited Palestine and met with the Mufti Hajj Amin. The 

concern and involvement of the Muslim Brotherhood took a new 

twist during the Great Uprising of 1936-39. Some accounts recalled 

that a limited number of Egyptian volunteers managed to penetrate 

into Palestine and participate in military operations in the north of 

the country.17 Meanwhile, back at home, the Brotherhood stepped 

up their media campaigns, organized demonstrations, and collected 

donations in many Egyptian cities for the Palestinians. 

During the Second World War an increasing number of young 

Palestinians rallied to the call of the Muslim Brotherhood. It was n?t 

until after the War, however, that they opened their firSI :r.a~c:a:r 

Palestine [in the Gaza Strip] under the leadership of H JJ . . 

Sh 
ents toward the Zionist 

awa. 18 The indecision of the Arab governm 1. 

h 
. 1 teness of the Mus u11 

t reat contrasted drastically with the reso u 1 d ploy 
B b tries could on Y e 

rotherhood. Whereas seven Ara coun I . Imam 
24 . . . 0 000 Jewish regu a1s, 

,000 fighters in Palestme agamst 7 ' b ·s of his 
' l 10 000 mem e1 

Hasan al-Banna in October 1947 pledgec ' h d the Egyptian 

movement as a first contigent. 19 When he a~::~:d:r it refused. 
government to allow the volunteers to cross 
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With the restriction of the Egyptian government only a few 

combatants from the Br~t~erhood could come to the aid of the 

Palestinians. When Bntarn and the Arab states realized th 

seriousness of the Brotherhood they hastened to stop the f e 

volunteers from joining the resistance in Palestine. In the end onl;: 

few hundred managed to cross over from Egypt. 

This role of the Muslim Brotherhood in the 1948 War led the 

Egyptian government to disband the Brotherhood and started to 

arrest and imprison its members. On ,11 February 1949, shortly 

before the armistice was concluded with Israel, Imam Hasan al­

Banna was assassinated in Cairo, presumably by an agent of the 

Government. 20 

Naturally, the sight of Arab soldiers turning their attention to 

capture and disarm their own Muslim brothers in Palestine was one 

of the most painful and regrettable episodes of the 1948 War. The 

lack of political will on the part of Arab governments and military 

dedication in the liberation of Palestine was obvious. Given their 

almost total lack of political independence and the manner in which 

their armies were dominated, armed and led by English officers, as 

was the case of Jordan, their defeat was hardly surprising. 

Points of Review 

• Throughout the period between 1937 and 1948 Zionist leaders 

worked tirelessly to finalize and execute a plan of clearing 

Palestine of its Arab population. 

• Apart from the leakage of vital intelligence to the British the 

Palestinian cause was further damaged by the acute differences 

that existed among the various Arab governments. 

• Ever since it was founded in 1928 the Muslim Brotherhood has 

consistently championed the Palestinian cause. 

Questions 

1. What was Plan Dalet? 

2. Why was the result of the 194 
before it started? 8 War a foregone conclusion 

3. Assess the role of th M 1. e us im Brotherhood in the 1948 War. 
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Building on the Spoils of War 

The Palestinian catastrophe "Nakb " 
a was unparalleled in mod 

history. The wholes_ale_ emptying of the country of its populat~~~ 

was not a mere comc1dence of war It was acco d' z· . 
. . . · , r mg to 1001st 

officials, theu way of solving what they termed the "A b 
h' bl " ra 

demograp ic pro em • In order for Israel to emerge as a "Je · h 
d' WIS 

State", accor ing to the vision of its founding fathers, three 

requirements had to be fulfilled. 

It had to be first and foremost, a state for all the Jews in the 

world. Secondly, They had to become its majority population and, 

finally, the Jews had to be afforded special privileges and 

preferential laws. Soon after the cessation of hostilities in 1949 the 

leaders of the new state took a number of measures to achieve 

these aims. 

Having captured Palestinian land far in excess of what they were 

allocated by the UN, Israel's rulers decided to block the return of 

Palestinians to their land. There was, for all intents and purposes, a 

strong connection between the capture of Palestinian property and 

the denial of their return. Two-thirds of the cultivated land seized by 

Israel in 1947-49 was owned by the Palestinians, who had now 

become refugees. While 350 of the estimated 400 Jewish settlements 

created after 1948 were actually on Palestinian refugee property.1 

The Jewish immigrants needed the captured homes, farms , 

factories, shops and other businesses to establish themselves in 

Palestine. Thus, when Count Bernadotte, the UN representative, 

pressed the Israeli Foreign Minster Moshe Sharett to allow the 

refugees back he replied, "On the economic side, the reintegration 

of the returning Arabs into normal life ... would present an 

insuperable problem". 2 

Faced with this policy of willful obstruction, the UN respondded 

b · d · · · t the world bo Y 
Y re1ecting Israel's application for a ID1ss1on 10 0 . 1. 

h . 4 rt from their po icy 
w en 1t first applied in December 19 8. But apa 
t h ·mportant reasons, 
oward the refugees there were three ot er 1 

Which led to the denial of the UN membership. 
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In the first instance, Israel had seized land far in excess of what it 
was offered by the UN. Secondly, it captured the western part of 
Jerusalem, which according to Resolution 181 was earmarked to 
become an international zone. The third reason was the fact that 
there was intense international outrage over the Zionist murder of 

Count Bernadotte. 

Before his murder, Count Bernadotte reported to the General 
Assembly on 16 September 1948. Bernadotte recommended that, 
'the right of the innocent people (Palestinians), uprooted from their 
homes by the present terror and ravages of war, to return to their 
homes, should be affirmed and made effective ... ' The following day 
he was shot dead in Jerusalem, by the Zionists along with another 

UN official, Colonel Andre Serot. 

Count Bernadotte was silenced but his report survived. Clearly 
recognizing its direct responsibility in creating the refugee problem 
when it partitioned Palestine, the UN adopted Resolution 194 on 11 
December 1948, which established the United Nations Conciliation 
Commission for Palestine (UNCCP) and entrusted it with the 
specific mandate "to facilitate the repatriation , resettlement and 
economic and social rehabilitation of the refugees and the payment 
of compensation". 

The Basic Laws 

In the immediate years after the Nakba the UNCCP estimated the 
value of Palestinian refugee property at approximately $1 22 million. 
At the same time, the Arab League produced its own figures of those 

losses and estimated them to be twenty times highe r. 3 Even before 
th~ war ended the provisional government in Israel took a number 
~f. measure~ to ga in control of the pro pe rty left be hind by the 
refugees .. Without the immediate and uncontrolled access to this 
property it would have been impossible for the new aovernment to 
accommodate and prov·d c h h b 

c 
1 e 1 or t e t ousands of Jewish immi arants 

who were now flooding into Palestine. 
0 

Foreign Minister Moshe Sh d . . ' arett, summed up the satisfaction an 
opt11111sm that was felt w·th · ff' · • t· . . 1 10 o 1C1al ctrcles after the expulsion o 
the Palestm1ans. Writing to the p . l f h ld J . h res1c ent o t e Wor ew1s 
Congress, Nahum Goldmann on 15 J 1948 h b d , une e oaste : 

The most shectacular eve- 1 . . h J . . r n · in t. e contemporary history 01 
Palestine - more spectacul · . . ar in a sense than the creation of the 
Jewish State - ts the wholesale evacuation of its Arab population 
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wbich has swept with it also thousand f A b 
d d1 . s q ra s from areas 

threatene an I or occupied frv us out 'd b . 
J 

st e our oundanes I doubt 
whether there are 100,000 Arabs in Israel toda,v Tb . . 

. J • e reversion to 
the status ~~o ante is unthinkable. The opportunities which the 

present p~sitwn opens up for a lasting and radical solution of the 

most vexing problem of the Jewish State are so far-reaching as to 

take one's breath away. Even if a certain backwash is unavoidable 

we must make the most of the momentous chance with which histo,,; 

has presented us so swiftly and so unexpectedly. 4 

Motivated by the need to seize this opportunity which history 

presented, the Israeli government passed one of its important laws 

aimed at the seizure of Palestinian property. In 1949 they enacted 

the Abandoned Areas Ordinance. Then, in 1950, they passed the 

Absentee Property Law. This was followed by, the Land Acquisition 

Law in 1953. After writing the Palestinian refugees out of existence 

by declaring them 'Absentees" it handed over their property to the 

Custodian of Absentee Property. During its first decade of existence 

Israel seized more than a quarter of a million acres of Palestinian 

land and much of this was done under the Law of Absentee 

Property. 

The term 'absentee' was not only applied to the Palestinians 

who took refuge in neighboring Arab countries but it was also 

applied to Palestinians in the newly created Israel. Since it was 

impossible to deny the existence of Palestinians within Israel they 

coined the term "present-absentees". Most of their land was 

confiscated under this guise. From that point on, Israeli legislators 

have cleverly avoided recognition of the term "refugee". Instead, 

they have related to the Palestinians in terms of present and absent. 

Although the UN had decided to partition Palestine and create 

two states it did not openly recommend the confiscation of ~ab 

property or the violation of their individual rights. The partition 

resolution specifically called upon both states to promulgate 

democratic constitutions "guaranteeing to all persons equa_I _and 

non-discriminatory rights in civil, political, economic, and r~hgi?_us 
matt " • h h · · •ement of its bu th 

ers . Israel refused to comply wit t 1s requu . 
cenificate [UN Res.181] and has instead ruled by an array of so-

called Basic Laws. . 
Th d cratic constitution 

e Israeli leadership's refusal to enact a emo d . k own 
\Vas h i I ng ma e it n 

apparently not without reason. They ac O . D ·d 
that th . . . f Palestine. av1 

eir ultimate goal was the total dommat1on ° 
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Ben Gurion, the first Prime Minister told a meeting of the Jewish 

Agency executive in June 1938, "After we become ~ strong_ ~orce, as 

a result of the creation of a State, we shaII abolish partition and 

expand to the whole of Palestine".5 Israel 's adoption of the Basic 

Laws after 1948 was calculated to serve this very purpose. 

Expulsion and Return 

Because the Basic Laws were aII written to favour one people: 

Jews over others, they were widely condemned as ra~ist and 

discriminatory. of the entire body of these laws the Israeli Law of 

Return stands out markedly from the others. This law which was 

enacted on 5 July 1950 affords to every member of the '}ewish 

people" born anywhere in the world the right to immigrate to Israel 

and become a citizen upon arrival. At the same time, it denies this 

right to Palestinian Muslims and Christians who were born in 

Palestine and expeIIed during the successive wars of occupation. 

While the Law of Return seeks to ensure the constant increase of 

Israel's Jewish population, its legal "cousin", the Nationality Law 

enacted in 1952 aims to limit the growth of the Palestinians. Hence, 

whereas the latter guarantees automatic citizenship to Jews through 

immigration, residence, birth and naturalization, it enforces a 

completely different set of rules and conditions for Palestinians. 

In so far as they work together, both the Law of Return and 

Nationality Law constitute a single statutory unit. Between 1949 and 

1952 Israel 's Jewish population more than doubled. Under an 

entirely different set of rules, however, citizenship was denied to 

those Palestinians who remained in the country after 1948 as well as 

those who were expelled and managed to return "illegally". Under 

Section 3 of the Nationality Law non-Jews living in the country who 

could not prove that they resided there during the four years 

preceding the creation of Israel were not entitled to citizenship. 

Many Palestinian Arabs failed to meet the requirements of the 

Nationality Law and consequently found themselves exposed to 

deportation. Their villages were deliberately shunned during 

registration. As a result there are literally hundreds of Arab 

residential concentrations, which successive Israeli governments 

have refused to recognize officially. They are classified as 

"unrecognized villages" and consequently do not appear on the 

official map of Israel although most of them have existed for 

hundreds of years before the creation of the state of Israel. Under 
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the cover of this technicality Israel has i . d d . 

d t' h 1 h , o1 eca es w1llful1y denied 

water, e uca ion, ea t and electricity to tens o' f th d f 
. . 

ousan s o 

palesttnians. 

In order to maintain this situation the Isra 1· • . 
. ' e 15 imposed direct 

military rule in most of the Palestinian areas. Until 1967, when 

military rule was ended no Arab was allowed to enter or leave h' 

h 
. l 1S 

area wit out a spec1a permit. Professor Israel Shahak of the 

Hebrew University in Jerusalem linked the oppression of the 

Palestinians under Israeli rule to the Hebraic laws. He explained 

that while the Hebraic laws were especially intolerant of non-Jews, 

they were more so toward the ancient Canaanites and other 

nationals who lived in Palestine before its conquest by the Jews. 

"Thou shalt save alive nothing that breatheth" (Deuteronomy 

20:16) . As descendents of the Canaanites , Shahak notes it was 

inevitable that the Palestinians were subjected to such aggression.6 

The dream of an exclusive Jewish state in Palestine has thus 

resulted in a colonial system of the most extreme kind. From the 

very beginning there was a general recognition among the Zionists 

that as long as they remained a minority in Palestine their moral 

and historical proprietorship over the land would be questioned. 

Hence, they concluded that it was only by becoming the majority 

nation could they enjoy the exclusive title to Palestine. As for the 

indigenous Palestinians they had an entirely different outlook. 

Points of Review 

• The Zionists believed it was necessary to expel the Palestinians 

in order to solve the 'Arab demographic problem. ' 

• Without the uncontrolled access to Palestinian land and property 

it would have been impossible for the provisional Israe li 

government to accommodate the thou sa nds of Jewish 

immigrants flooding into Palestine. 

• The Basic Laws were condemned as discriminatory because they 

favoured one people, Jews, over non-Jews. 

Questions 
1 w · · odern 
· hy was the Palestinian Nakba described as urnque m m 

history? 
2 Wh for membership to the UN 
· Y was Israel's first application 

rejected? 
3· What is meant by the term 'present-absentee'? 
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Picking up the Pieces 

When it became clear that Britain was going to end its mandate 

over Palestine on 15 May 1948, the Higher Arab Committee (HAC) 

under the leadership of Hajj Amin called upon the Arab League to 

proclaim an independent Palestinian Arab state on all the territories 

of mandatory Palestine. The request was turned down despite 

intense Palestinian lobbying during the two and a half months 

before 15 May. For all its worth, this decision by the Arab League 

was apparently made in response to foreign pressure. 

Although several Arab countries had attained their independence 

by the end of the Second World War, they still remained largely 

dominated by Britain and increasingly so by the United States. Both 

powers were instrumental in making it possible to create the state 

of Israel in Palestine and looked with disfavor and mistrust toward 

the HAC. The ruling Hashemite families in Iraq and Transjordan 

were particularly indebted to the British who had installed them in 

power. King Abdullah had, in fact, established contacts with certain 

Zionist leaders who assured him that he would be allowed to 

annex a part of Palestine if he withdrew the Arab claim to all of 

Palestine. 1 

The extent to which the Arab states were subjected to foreign 

influence was well demonstrated during the 1948 war in Palestine. 

The Arab armies prevented Hajj Amin and his close aides from 

entering the areas under their control in Palestine in order to direct 

the local resistance. Worse yet, the Arab League undertook to disarm 

the Palestinians in the Jerusalem, Ramallah and Hebron areas. 2 

The All-Palestine Government 

Undeterred by the scale of the catastrophe that had befallen 

their ~ountry the HAC declared, on 23 September 1948, the 

formation of the All-Palestine Government in Gaza. The following 

week the new government, headed by Ahmad Hilmi Abdul Baqi, 

convened the first meeting of the Palest· N • 1 C ·1 to me at1ona ounc1 
ratify their decision. Despite the tight • 1 f 1 ·s secunty contro s o 11 
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activities Hajj Amin managed to t 
re urn from Ca. d 

council meeting after a period of 1 . iro an attend the 
e even years m exile 

The idea of an 'All-Palestine G . , . · 

d b 
. . ovei nment died in its infa 

was aborte y British interventi d ncy. It 

d h 
on an pressure upon K' 

Abdullah an ot er Arab leaders The p . Off' mg 
. . d . . oreign ice warned that 

Bntam woul regard such a government as ·11-t· d . 
. . i ime and m the 

interests of the Ha_JJ. Amin.3 The Arab League complied and 

pr~vented the Palestm1an leadership from canying out their plan. 

This was done on the pretext that the Palestinian cause was an 

Arab one and that it was the duty of Arab countries to intervene 

and protect the Arab identity and interests of the Palestinian 

people. 

Using this justification King Abdullah of Jordan called a 

conference in Amman in October 1948 under the chairmanship of 

the Palestinian notable Shaykh Sulayman Taji Farouqi. The Amman 

conference rejected the HAC as a representative body of the 

Palestinian people and its attempt to form an All-Palestine 

Government. As a follow up they called another conference in 

Jericho in December 1948 chaired by the mayor of Hebron , 

Muhammad Ali Ja' abary. In Jericho the few hundred delegates 

recommended the unification of Palestine and Transjordan, which 

in 1949 became the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan. 

King Abdullah accepted the Jericho conference recommendations 

in April 1950, despite widespread Palestinian opposition. There was 

very little that they could have done as Transjordanian had effective 

military control of most of the West Bank. When its national 

assembly adopted the unification resolution it undertook to 

safeguard the rights of the Palestinians and ensure that the union 

would not prejudice the outcome of the Palestine Question. In 

reality, this meant that the union did not in any way impair 

Palestinian sovereign rights over the territories.4 Eventually, Ki~g 

Abdullah formally completed the annexation of the West Bank 10 

April 1950 by proclaiming the unity of the territories to the eaSt and 

West of the Jordan .5 
· ·rs control 

When the All-Palestine Government tried to exercise i h 
ov t · tervened at t e 

er the Gaza Strip the Egyptian Governmen m h 
i • as to keep t e 
nsistence of the Arab League. Its declared purpose w 1 t 

territory "in tmst" for the Palestinian people until a fin~l settd~menl 
w . as imme iate y 

as reached. This seemingly noble declaratton w 
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called into question as Hajj Amin was arrested and taken by force 
Cairo. Several members of the National Council, including i:~ 
chairman, were si1nilarly forced to move to Cairo. The entire 
govermnent was now in Egypt and could not perform its duties, not 
least because they were all place~ under strict surveillance. Hajj 
Amin's close relations with the Muslim Brotherhood did not help his 
cause at a time when Egypt's military ruler Abdul Nasir was seeking 
to crush the movement. The work of the All-Palestine Government 
came to an effective end in 1964 after the formation of the 
Palestinian Liberation Organization (PLO). 

During the intervening decade and a half, the Arab League 
exercised direct control of the Palestinian Question. Palestinian 
organizations were more or less sidelined by Arab governments. 
The latter adopted the issue as the foremost Arab cause, claiming 
that it was not confined to the Palestinians themselves. This 
approach created an impression among Palestinians that the 
liberation of their land was purely an Arab responsibility more than 
it was a Palestinian one. They did not, however, react by isolating 
themselves. Instead they tried to become more involved with those 
nationalist parties and governments who had raised the slogan 
"unity is the way to liberation". This was especially so with Egypt 
under Naser. 

Despite the rhetoric of confrontation during the fifties and sixties 
there were early signs that the Arab regimes were inclined to an 
accommodated settlement with the Zionist state rather than the 
liberation of Palestine. On the whole, their support for the 
Palestinian resistance seemed more of a tactical exercise than a 
strategic undertaking. 6 Their overall policy toward the Palestine 
Question ran along two lines: the preservation of their individual 
seats of power and avoidance of confrontation with Israel. Hence, 
they spared no effort to restrain the Palestinian liberators and 
further prevent cross-border attacks on the newly created state of 
Israel. At the same time regional governments particularly those 
bordering Israel, conveniently permitted some low-keyed 
Palestinian resistance operations on their territories in order to gain 
domestic support and provide an outlet for local outrage. 

Throughout the last fifty years, all the states neiohboring Israel 
kept their borders tightly sealed. The only notable 

0

exception was 
Lebanon from where regular raids were launched after 1967. Even 
so, it was not because the governments favored it but only because 
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h Y were weak in the face f h • 
t e . . 0 t e Palestinian revolution that had 
erupted m the camps m the late sixties. 7 

The Islamic Movement 

The spread of Arab nationalism and its support ~or the p 1 . 
· 11 a estme 

cause did not tota y overshadow the Islamic movement D . h . unng t e 
first half of the 1950s the Muslim Brotherhood re-emerged as a 

major political fo~ce among the youth of Gaza. One of the key 

figures who contnbuted to the resurgence of the movement was 

Mustafa Hafiz , an intelligence officer, and Abdul Mun'em Abdul 

Rauf, an Egyptian army officer with close ties to both the 

Brotherhood and the Free Officers who had carried out the July 

1952 coup in Egypt. 

Several branches of the Brotherhood were set up across the 

West Bank and Gaza Strip in the early 1950s. The members in West 

Bank were absorbed into the movement in Jordan while those in 

Gaza became part of the movement in Egypt. Meanwhile, most of 

the Palestinian students who went to Egypt to pursue university 

education were from the Gaza Strip. They formed the Palestinian 

Students Union in Cai ro . The Brotherhood dominated its 

administrative council. Notable among them was Yasser Arafat, 

Salim Za'anun, Salah Khalaf, and Abdul Fatah Hammoud. They later 

went on to become the founders of the Palestine National 

Liberation Movement - Fateh.8 

The Egyptian Government along with UNRWA had, in 1953, 

agreed to resettle the refugees from Gaza in the Sinai.9 However, 

the Brotherhood spearheaded the resistance efforts planting mines, 

exploding facilities and disrupting enemy water pipelines. The 

operations led to the failure of the Israeli plan to resettle the 

refugees in the Sinai. 

After the attempted assassination of President Abdul Nasser in 

October 1954 the Egyptian Government began to crack down on the 

Muslim Brotherhood in Egypt. Thousands were arrested and several 

of its leaders were executed. Many of its most capable members fled 

to th~ Arab Gulf States. As expected, the ev~nts in Egypt h~db a 

negative impact on the movement in Gaza. Dnven undergroun . Y 

threats of detention the Brotherhood continued with its activities m 

secret after the mid 1950s until 1967. The Brotherhood formed af 
nu b " b b 1 Thar" [Youth o 

m er of armed brigades such as the Sha a a - . d 

Revenge] and "Katibat al-Haqq" [Brigade of the Tn1th]. They carne 
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out a number of daring attacks against the Israeli occupation 
throughout November 1956 to March 1957 in response to the 
French-British-Israeli attack upon Egypt. 10 One of the most 
outstanding combatants to emerge from the Brotherhood during this 
period was Khalil Wazir (Abu Jihad), later to become a founding 
leader of Fateh and the Palestinian Liberation Organization (PLO). 

It was not difficult for the seeds of resistance sown in Gaza to 
gradually take root in the West Bank as the Israeli oppression 
became apparent. Branches were set up across the territory namely 
in Hebron, Bethlehem, Jenin, Qalqiliya, Anabta, Dowra, Sourayif, 
Toubas, and Jericho. Their work extended also into the refugees 
camps such as Aqaba Jabr near Jericho and al-Aroob near 
Bethlehem. I I All was not , however, rosy within the movement. 
Critical questions were raised within the youth circles of the 
Brotherhood about the approach toward the Palestine Question. 
This led to the breakaway of several members from the Muslim 
Brotherhood and their formation of a new organization for the 
liberation of Palestine. 

The birth of Fateh 
Since its formation in the late 1950s Fateh has dominated the 

Palestinian national movement both at home and abroad. There are 
differences of opinion about the exact date of when the movement 
was founded. Although the seeds of Fateh were hatched in Gaza, 
they were later transplanted to Cairo. The political climate in Egypt 
was, however, not favorable and the nascent movement was again 
shifted to the Gulf where it was finally given official birth to in 
Kuwait. 

According to Muslim Brotherhood sources Khalil Wazir [Abu 
' Jihad] was very much inspired by the successes of the Algerian 

revolution. Hence, he submitted a proposal to the leadership of the 
Brotherhood in Gaza urging the adoption of the Algerian model in 
Palestine as a means to national liberation and independence. This 
would have opened the doors to all segments of the Palestinian 
society and not just the Islamic movement. Abu Jihad did not gain 
the support that he expected and thus began his drift away from 
the Brotherhood. 12 He was only eighteen years old when he 
formed his own commando organization in Gaza in 1953. 

Despite the rejection of his proposal by the Brotherhood's 
leadership, Abu Jihad received a fair measure of support from 
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several _prominent m~mbers of the movement in Gaza. Encouraged 

with this rank and file support Abu Jihad then took his ideas to 

Cairo whe~e ~hey pro:ed especially appealing to certain radical 

elements withm the Union of Palestinian Students. 

The Union had, after its elections in 1952, fallen under the 

control of Yasser Arafat, then an engineering student. During the 

mid 1950s Arafat received military training in the Egyptian Military 

Academy. He later served briefly during the 1956 Suez War against 

Britain, France and Israel. He then moved to Kuwait in early 1957 

where he joined the Ministry of Public Works and co-founded Fateh 

in October 1959 .13 Four of the five members of Fateh's first 

leadership were from the Muslim Brotherhood or with close ties to 

it. They were: Abu Jihad, Yusuf Amayra, Abdul Fatah Hammoud, 

and Sulayman Hamad. The fifth person, Yasser Arafat, had himself 

very close links to the Brotherhood. 14 

In the beginning Fateh functioned as a secret organization, 

recruiting its members from people with proven commitment, 

loyalty and willingness to sacrifice for the homeland. They started 

to publish a magazine called Filastinuna [our Palestine], which was 

circulated secretly from hand to hand in Arab cities. It was through 

this organ that Fateh launched itself onto the world stage. Since 

there was no official split from the Brotherhood the leadership 

demanded fro1n Fateh the right to appoint three of the five-man 

leadership council and also the right to oversee their activities. This 

was apparently because the majority of Fateh members were by 

now from the Brotherhood. Fateh refused. This was after a period 

of intense negotiations, including a goodwill mission undertaken by 

Sulayman Hammad to Gaza for discussions with the leader of the 

Brotherhood Hani Bisaso. After this the official split came in the 

summer of 1963. 

The Palestinian Liberation Organization 

Something about the publication Filastinuna sent shock waves 

across the Ara b world. Fateh did not advocate a lightening 

~onventional war on Israel as they knew it would provoke outside 

Intervention from its allies. Besides, the Arab armies were neither 

United nor prepared to fight Israel. Hence they called for the launch 

of guerilla activities form all Arab lands and, in the process of attack 

and counter-attack the Arab governments would be forced either 

to h ' · l 
elp them or fight against them. The idea was to wm popu ar 
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Arab support and not the govern1:1ents. O~t of these activities they 
hoped an entity would emerge m Palestine that would take the 
fight to Israel.15 

Predictably this determination by the Palestinians, to control 
their stmggle, did not win significant approval or support in Arab 
capitals. Many had, since 1948, spoken much on behalf of the 
Palestinians but did very little and yet there were other actors 
behind the scenes. Prominent among these was Ahmad Shuqayri, a 
Palestinian from Aka who had previously served as a representative 
of Saudi Arabia at the UN and a well-known opponent of the Mufti 
Hajj Amin . In April 1962 he visited Jordan and conducted 
negotiations with the authorities there on the need to establish an 
independent Palestinian state. From there Shuqayri continued with 
consultations in other regional capitals. 

In September 1963 the Arab League convened a meeting in 
Cairo to explore ways of establishing a Palestinian state. They 
entrusted Shuqayri with the task of contacting Palestinians 
everywhere to form a delegation to represent them at the UN 
General Assembly in November 1963. A delegation was formed and 
attended the meeting. They participated in a special session to 
discuss the refugee problem and Shuqayri demanded the return of 
the refugees to their homes. He declared that the struggle of the 
Palestinian people was not for food or humanitarian assistance but 
for the liberation of their homeland that was subject to the greatest 
imperialist invasion of modern times. 

Following the UN meeting , on 23 December 1963, Nasser 
delivered a major political statement on Palestine, the Zionist threat, 
and Israel's diversion of water from the Jordan River. He invited the 
Arab kings and presidents to a summit in Cairo to discuss these 
matters. Accordingly, the first summit of the Arab League was held 
in Cairo in January 1964. They discussed the urgent need to 
establish a Palestinian entity and appointed Shuqayri to form the 
Palestinian Liberation Organization to speak on behalf of the 
Palestinian people. A founding conference was scheduled for May 
1964 in Jerusalem. 

Fateh was initially sceptical about the idea of a PLO and Ahmad 
Shuqayri in particular they found him unwilling to go along with 
their agenda. Their main demand was that Fateh would spearhead 
the military wing of the struggle and he, Shuqayri, would lead the 
international political efforts. 
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The Jerusalem conference brought t h 

l 
diaspora. They adopted two d oget er 422 Palestinians from 

ne ocuments · the Palest" · N • 
charter and the Basic Constitution of the ~LO Th· m1an at1onal 

by the Palestinians to assert their independ · 
18 

renewed effort 

h 
ence was by no means a 

departure from t e Arab fold . Article 14 of th N • 
. d "Th d . e ational Charter 

emphasize , e esttny of the Arab nation and · d d 
. , m ee Arab 

existence itself, depend upon the destiny of the Palestine cause. 

From this interd~pend~nce springs the Arab nation's pursuit of, and 

striving for, the liberation ~f Palestine. The people of Palestine play 

the role of the vanguard m the realization of this sacred (qawmi) 

1
,, 

goa . 

In light of this, a primary function of the PLO was to draw 

attention to the Palestinian identity in the conflict and deny the 

Zionists the opportunity to claim that the Palestinians do not exist 

and that the conflict is with the Arabs and not the Palestinians. 

There were, of course , notable voices of dissent. Hajj Amin did 

not initially support the idea of the PLO. He criticized it as "a 

colonialist, Zionist conspiracy" aimed at the liquidation of the 

Palestine cause.16 From a stiictly political point of view he saw the 

PLO as a threat to his position at the head of the Palestinian national 

movement. The Mufti viewed Ahmad Shuqayri as a lackey of Abdul 

Nasser whom he believed was trying to undermine his leadership 

and that of the HAC. Added to this element of personality conflict 

was Abdul Nasser's courtship of the Soviet Union and the Socialist 

left. All of these factors forced Hajj Amin to leave Egypt deceptively 

in 1959 under pretext of going to pilgrimage to Makka. He fled to 

Beirut where some of his aides later alleged that Naser had tried to 

assassinate him. 17 

Against this background of boiling tension and mistrnSt, a se~ret 

meeting was convened in Damascus in August 1964 that was gomg 

to shape the course of the Palestinian struggle and resonate across 

the World. It was attended by Yasser Arafat, Abu Jihad, Adil Abdul 

Karim, Abdullah Danan Muhammad Yusuf Najjar, Mahmud Ab~as 

d ' • · in Palestine 
an Mahmud Khalidi.18 They reviewed the situation 
and • h d cided the only way 

, after nearly 18 years of occupation, t ey e 1 By 
to l 'b . . an armed strugg e. 

1 erate Palestinians is by beginning d h t it was 
ado · d h' nnounce t a 

. Pting this course the Fateh lea ers ip a . 'thout the 
going to launch attacks on Israeli installations with or wi 
sti

PPort and backing of the Arab regimes. 
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On 1 January 1965 a unit of Fateh commandos attacked 
Aylabo~ tunnel _in Israel_ thereby signaling _the start of :~: 
Palestiman revolution. In this ope1 ation Fateh registered the 1 _. oss of 
the first martyr of the revolution - Ahmad Musa and the captur 

k H
.. . e of 

its first prisoner Mahmud Ba r 1Jaz1. 

Points of Review 
• The formation of the All-Palestine Government in 1948 was one 

of the first steps taken by the Palestinian leadership to recover 
from the Nakba. 

• The spread of Arab nationalism and its support for the Palestine 
cause did not totally overshadow the Islamic movement after the 
Nakba. 

• A primary function of the PLO was to draw attention to the 
Palestinian identity in the conflict and deny the Zionists the 
opportunity to claim that the Palestinians do not exists and that 
the conflict is with the Arabs and not the Palestinians. 

Questions 
1. What factors led to the collapse of the All-Palestine Government? 

2. Explain the reasons for the withdrawal of key members from the 
Muslim Brotherhood in Gaza to form Fateh? 

3. Comment on the view that the PLO was the creature of the Arab 
League more than it was an instrument of the Palestinian 
national movement? 
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The 1967 War and Palestine 

Throughout 1965 Fateh continued its commando attacks against 

Israeli military and economic targets . By the end of the year the 

roup recorded a total of 110 operations. 1 They were not announced 

~ the name of Fateh but rather of a fictitious organization called Al­

Asifa (The Storm). Most of their operations were launched from 

bases in Syria, Lebanon and northern Jordan. From a strictly military 

point of view these attacks had a very limited impact on the Israeli 

state. Politically, however, they soon became a source of grave 

irritation not just for Israel but the Arab regimes as well. 

In Israel, the attacks worsened an already dismal state of affairs. 

Overshadowed by a climate of political uncertainty the country grew 

increasingly incapable of attracting foreign investment. More 

distressingly, the customary sources of western aid that formed 

Israel's economic lifeline since 1948 began to wane by the mid 

1960s. The consequences were shocking - economic stagnation, 

rapid inflation, increased taxes and massive job losses, which forced 

many Israelis to leave the country and discouraged would-be 

immigrants from settling there . 

On the other extreme the Arab regimes were likewise irritated, 

albeit for other reasons. There was indeed a real fear in the capitals 

of neighboring countries that the attacks would drag them into an 

undesired conflict with Israel. In order to preempt this , the 

governments concerned adopted a hostile approach toward Fateh. 

In Egypt, the Commander-in-Chief of the army, Field Marshall Abdul 

Hakim Arner, issued an Order of the Day to all the armed forces of 

the Arab League telling them to consider themselves at war with Al­

Asifa.2 It was no surprise therefore that the movement's first martyr 

Ahmad Musa was killed 'by Jordanian soldiers while returning from 
their second commando operation inside Israel .3 Elsewhere, the 

~Yrian authorities detained Yasser Arafat in late 1965 on charges of 

importing explosives into the country for subversive reasons. He 

hact al d • L b n earlier in 
rea Y been imprisoned for a few days 1n e ano 

the ye h mbers were 
ar. Other arrests and detentions of Fate me 

;arried out in Jordan, the West Bank, Syria, Lebanon and ;gypt. 

hey We b' d. d . Arab prisons. 
re su Jected to torture and some 1e 1n 
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If anything, the Arab security clamp down only served to 
strengthen Fateh's resolve. When the June 1967_ War broke out they 
had registered a total of 200 attacks. Immediately after the War 
Fateh forwarded a memorandum on 17 June 1967 to the UN 
Secretary Genral, U Thant, urging that the international organization 
recognize its detainee, Mahmud Hijazi, as a prisoner of war. The 
memo further explained that Al-Asifa, its military wing, was obliged 
to carry out its operations in Israel against the Zionist movement, 
which was determined to eliminate the Palestine Arab presence 
from their homeland. 5 

In September 1967 Fateh sent a strongly worded statement to 
the Third Arab Summit meeting in Casablanca. The movement 
demanded an end to the hostile campaign against its members, the 
unconditional release of its prisoners , the lifting of the news 
blackout on its press statements and publications in the Arab 
countries and the granting of sanctuary to its members who were 
forced to take refuge in their countries. 

Arab disunity 
Throughout the nineteen years that preceded the 1967 War the 

Palestine Question was used in Arab capitals to justify political 
policies and changes. In public, regional governments professed 
their commitment to the total liberation of Palestine. They insisted 
that the UN partition of Palestine was illegal and thus refused to 
recognize the state of Israel or have any peaceful relations with it. 
By the mid 1960s, however, the Arab states seemed hopelessly 
incapable of advancing the Palestinian cause . Chronic division, 
rivalry and internal fighting proved to be their worst enemy, far 
more damaging than the state of Israel. 

Despite the successful staging of the first three Arab summits in 
Cairo , Alexandria and Casablanca inte r-Arab re lations were 
threatened with total paralysis. The immediate cause was Egypt's 
intervention in Yemen to support Col. Abdull ah al-Salal's 
revolutionary government. The latter had overthrown the monarchY 
of Imam Muhammad Badr in 1962. While Egypt supported the 
soldiers who had proclaimed a republic, Saudi Arabia and Jord~n 
rallied to the aid of the deposed royalists. Both the ruling familY •~ 
oil-rich Arabia and the western oil companies with investments 
there viewed the revolution in Yemen as a threat to their interesrs. 

By 1966 the Arab countries were divided into two hostile carnP5 
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led by Nasser on the one extreme and K' F . I f . . 
h b mg a1sa o Saudi Arabia on the ot er. A dul Nasser's plans t 

. 0 convene a Fourth Summit of 
the ~rab Le~~ue in Septeinber that year seemed destined for failure. 
While_ :unisia, under Habib Bourghiba, joined the Saudi led 
opposition to the republican regime in Yemen, Syria joined Egypt in 
its absolute support for the revolutionary regime. The other 
member states of the League: Kuwait, Sudan, Lebanon, Morocco 
and Libya re1nained neutral. 

Egypt had, by then, poured one-third of its army into Yemen 
backed by air and naval forces. Saudi Arabia, on its part, provided 
bases and gave generous military and financial support to the 
royalist forces. As Yemen became the battleground of Arab armies 
fighting each other the greater cause of Palestine was all but 
forgotten. It was not until a few days before the 1967 War that the 
Arab states finally put aside their differences. By then it was too 
little too late. The damage was already done. The enflamed political 
differences within the Arab League had impaired all chances of 
effective military coordination. In the circumstances a war with 
Israel could only have produced one result - absolute humiliation 
and defeat. 

While the Arabs fought each other in Yemen the clo~1ds of war 
h h t 1966 and the f1rst half of with Israel grew ever darker t roug ou . 

. f e· did Israel exploit the 1967 In hindsioht one question comes to or · . . 
.. : . . 

0 
ranks and hastened the war? This appea1s 

d1v1s1ons within the Arab . . f l966 the Israelis 
S. ce the begmnmg o to have been the case. in 

1 
thei·

1
. weapon stocks. . aign to en arge quietly embarked on a cainp I 1- and Syrian troops 

f that year srae i 
All through the summer O b d A main cause was the 

h . mmon or er. 
clashed regularly on t elf co k Israel was determined . . mando attac s. . escalation of Palestinian coin ld have to pay a high 

. h t they wou to make the Syrians realize t a 
· c f the Palestinians. pnce 1or its support o h A ab states had no 

f Israel t e r 
Faced with growing threats rom ~ase scenario. Thus, after 

other choice but to prepare for the w~rse d in September 1966, that 
Israel's Prime Minister Levi E~hkol dee l~r;alestinian raids, r~gardl~ss 
Syria would be held responsible for a . decided to formalize 

E t and Syna 6 I of the country they came from, gyp 
66

_6 On 21 May 19 7 ra~ 
a Mutual Defence Pact in November 19 f ontation between Israeli 
joined the protocol. Meanwhile, the con r the former insisted on 

b l to worse as anct Syrian forces went fr?m . ac_ 
5 

rian territory. 
Pursuing Palestinian guenllas inside Y 
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A turning point in the crisis took place on 9 May 1967 Whe 
Israel increased the size of its forces on the Syrian border. Abdu~ 
Nasser announced that Egypt would not stand idle with its hand 
tied and witness an attack on Syria. By this time Nasser wa: 
convinced that Israel was going to launch an invasion of Syria. He 
called upon the UN to withdraw its Emergency Forces (UNEF) 
which were stationed in the Egyptian Sinai after the 1956 War. 0 ~ 
15 May he declared a state of alert and deployed his forces in the 
Sinai. This was followed up with his closure of the Straits of Tiran to 
Israeli shipping on 23 May. This was the pretext the Israelis needed 
to attack. They interpreted the closure as an act of war because the 
Straits provided their only outlet for the Israeli port of Ailat. 

War and its consequences 
On the morning of 5 June 1967 Israeli aircrafts evaded Egyptian 

radars and attacked its airbases in the Delta and Sinai; destroying 
the entire Egyptian air force while it was still on the ground. The air 
attack was accompanied with the simultaneous movement of troops 
into the Gaza and Sinai. They met with some resistance from the 
Palestinian Liberation Army in Gaza and the Egyptian army in the 
Sinai. The latter could not, however, put up a good fight since they 
had no cover from Israeli aircrafts. Thousands were killed and 
captured. The outcome of the war was decided in the first hours 
when the Egyptian air defences were destroyed. Within eight hours 
of fighting it was all over. 

On the Jordanian front it was no different. Most of the Jordanian 
planes were also destroyed before they could be scrambled. Its 
forces remained stranded in the West Bank without air cover. A 
limited ground battle took place around Jerusalem and Jenin. On the 
second day of fighting the army collapsed and withdrew to its 
eastern defensive positions. 

In Syria_, the picture was no different. Its airplanes were attacked 
around midday and suffered great damage. Having disposed of 
their main targets in Egypt and Jordan, the Israelis concentrated 
their attention on the Syrian Golan Heights which they managed to 
occupy on the sixth day of the war. ' 

The human cost of the war was enormous. An estimated 10,000 
Egyptians, 6,094 J~rdanians and 1,000 Syrians were martyred. 
Despite the issue of- four cease-fire orders by the Security council, 
Israel continued its attacks until the occupation of the West Bank, of 
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Jordan River, the Gaza Strip and the Golan Heights, the Sinai 
peninsula and the old city of Jerusalem was complete. But the 
Israelis were not only interested in the capture of Arab land. They 
were ~qually ~e~er~ined to depopulate the newly occupied 
territones of ~h~ir md1genous people and, as a result, a new phase 
in the Palestinian refugee problem began with the expulsion of 
330,000 Palestinians from the West Bank and Gaza. About 145,000 of 
these were registered with UNRWA and were thus made refugees for 
the second time after their initial expulsion in 1948.7 

By December 1967 about 245,000 Palestinians had crossed to the 
East Bank of the Jordan River. Sarni Hadawi described the scene as 
he saw it from the East Bank, "a mass of humanity in thousands was 
wading through the waters of the river - some beneath others 

' between the debris of the bombed Abdullah (formerly Allen by) 
Bridge, with still others being hurriedly pushed - sometimes by a 
volley of overhead shots - to speed them on their way to join the 
unhappy procession". 8 

As a consequence of the War about 1,850,000 Palestinians came 
under Israeli occupied rule. The al-Aqsa Mosque, the Noble Rock 
and the Church of the Sepulcher all fell to the occupation. From an 
Israeli point of view the icing on the cake was their capture of the 
sources of the Jordan River. Thus the Arab defeat was total and 
comprehensive. 

The 1967 War exposed the rhetoric of the Arabs and showed the 
weakness of its states with their inability to deliver on the ir 
promises toward the Palestinian people. The defeat constituted a 
setback not only of the Palestinian national movement but the Arab 
nation as a whole. In the aftermath, several disclosures by both 
Israeli and Arab political leaders confirmed that the Arabs had no 
intention of going to war with Israel. Former Israeli Prime Minister 
Yitshak Rabin told the French Le Monde on 29 February 1968, "I 
don't believe Abdul Nasser wanted the war. The two divisions that 
he sent to the Sinai on 14 May were not enough to make an attack 
on Israel. we know this and he knows it". Ezer Weizmann, the head 
of Israel's military intelligence at the time, further remarked, "The 
1967 War was not imposed upon us. It was a war Israel chose" .9 

In the us similar admissions have reinforced the view that Israel 
was the aggressor and the Arabs were the aggressed. President 
Lyndon Johnson, in his memoirs, recalled the account of Robert 
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McNamara, the then Secretary of Defence, that three different intelligence bodies had confirmed that an Egyptian attack was not imminent. lo In spite of these evidences the Pentagon sent several battalions of marines to the Sixth Fleet, which was then stepping up its manoeuvres off the Syrian coast. The Israelis were apparently only waiting for the green light from Washington to attack. This came on 4 June while Abdul Nasser was still engaged in negotiations with President Johnson's envoy .11 

Since the War, the Arabs have maintained that there was extensive collaboration between Israel, the US and Britain. The fact that neither the Sixth Fleet nor British ships stationed in the region warned the Arabs of the impending attack meant either their surveillance equipment was ineffective or they colluded with the Israelis. Whatever the case , the 1967 War changed the geopolitical map of the region and the course of the Palestinian struggle. Whereas in the past the battle cry was "Arab unity is the way to the liberat,ion of Palestine", after 1967 the new slogan became "the liberation of Palestine is the way to Arab unity". 
Points of Review 
• Egypt's military intervention in Yemen divided the Arab League into two mutually hostile camps. 
• Arab political differences impaired the abilities of their armies to coordinate effectively. 
• US intelligence confirmed that Egypt had no plans to go to war. 
Questions 

1. Why were the Arab regimes opposed to Fateh? 
2. Assess the consequences of the 1967 defeat on the Palestinian cause? 

3. Comment on the view that without the collaboration of the US and Britain Israel could not have achieved the military victory it did in 1967. 
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Chapter 17 

Fateh Keeps the Struggle Alive 

The humiliating defeat of 1967 unleashed a storm of unrest and 
discontent across the Arab world. From the Atlantic to the Gulf 

people held their governments directly responsible for the 
occupation of Palestine and other Arab lands. They had neither the 

time nor willingness to investigate the conspiracy theories of 
American and British collusion with Israel. As a result, calls were 

raised everywhere for change and the restoration of Arab dignity. 

Nowhere was the impact of the defeat felt more than among the 
Palestinians , whether in their occupied homeland, the refugee 

camps of neighboring countries or even further beyond. They were 

terribly disappointed with the official Arab leadership including that 
of the PLO. Thus, they demanded a change in its leadership and 
election of a national council capable of protecting their interests. 

Immediately after the war the Fateh leadership decided to take 
full advantage of the situation. They convened an emergency 
meeting in Damascus on 12 June 1967 to study the prospects of 

launching an all-out liberation war in Palestine. In July 19~7 Yas~er 
Arafat secretly entered the West Bank with a number of aides with 

the aim of organizing some form of meaningf~Il. resistance. He 
traveled around the occupied territories recruitm~ volunteers , 

. . t ks from his base m Nablus and 
organizing groups and directing at ac 

then later Ramallah. 
By December 1967 other Palestinian political part~es be~an t~ 

. . . h Po ular Front for the Liberation o 
form military wings. T e P b h Christian began its 
Palestine (PFLP) led by Dr George H~ ~sl '

1 
a the Syri; n backed 

.1. . h wr st Bank Simi ar Y, 
m1 ttary attacks m t e we . :on War (Sa 'iqa) began their 
Vanguard of the Popular Liberati . . revolution reached its 

6 . the Palestinian 
operations in 19 8. As it were, b . es only obliged to 
climax during the period 1967-70. Ara regim of their people. 

ape the anger 
accommodate Fateh in order to esc d h . borders with Israel. 
Th d . s opene t eir 

us, the Lebanese and J or aman 1 · public. As 
. ls from the Israe t 

The operations led to calls for re~nsa It destroyed homes, 
expected Israel retaliated with all its power .. ns in the occupied 
imposed 'curfews and carried out mass detenuo 
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territories. They benefited from a wealth of intelligence material left 

behind by the Jordanians and Egyptians when they withdrew from 

the West Bank and Gaza Strip respectively. This information was 

used to track down, capture or kill Palestinian resistance fighters. By 

the year end, 200 Fatah members were killed and 1,000 were 

imprisoned. In early 1968 Arafat was forced to pull out of the West 

Bank and reorganize his campaign from Jordan.
1 

The Battle of Karameh 
After its successes against the resistance fighters in the West 

Bank, Israel began to carry out preemptive raids in the East Bank of 

the Jordan. On 20 March 1968 Israel's Defence Minister, Moshe 

Dayan, called a press conference and invited Israeli and foreign 

reporters to accompany the Israeli army the following day to 
witness the destruction of the remaining Fateh bases. He boasted 

that the operation against the resistance fighters in Karameh refugee 

camp, Jordan, would be like the destruction of eggs in a nest. 2 

Karam eh is a small village on the East Bank of the Jordan River 
about two kilometers east of the town of al-Shunah. It was 
established by some of the refugees who were driven from their 
homes in 1948. The word Karameh means dignity. What happened 
there in March 1968 was regarded as a major step toward the 
restoration of Palestinian dignity. 

Once they were convinced that Israel was about to attack the 
camp, the Fateh leadership evacuated about 14,000 Palestinian 
residents and left about 1,000 refugees in the camp. The resistance 
fighters dug trenches and occupied strategic positions in the valleys 
and on the mountain tops. 

Arafat addressed his fighters on the evening of 20 March. He 
told them, "The Arab nation is watching us. We must shoulder our 

respon~ibility like men, with courage and dignity. We must plant 
the notion of steadfastness in this nation. We must shatter the myth 

of the invincible army" .3 Arafat knew they were outnumbered but 

they were determined to teach the Israelis a lesson. He later 

confirmed, "We were some 297 persons to be exact". He added, "I 
was not expecting that any of us would be alive after the Battle of 
Karameh".4 

Three brigades of Israeli troops, backed by fighter-jets and 
helicopters, attacked the village. The battle was bloody and 
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destructive. The invading forces met . 

grenades, mortar fire, rifles and k . with rocket propelled 
, nives. Dayan who 11 

supervised the operation, ordered the d t . , persona y 

. . es ruction of the camp Th 
fateh resistance continued longer than th 1 1

. · e 

f f. h . e srae ts expected. After 
eleven hours O tg ting the Israelis withdrew th · f 

. d . e1r orces. Western 

diplomatic an 1ned1a sources estimated they had 1,200 dead and 

wounded and 120 tanks detsroyed. s 

Fateh organized a huge rally to bury its 28 martyrs in Amman 

and salute its 90 wounded. Jordan, which had intervened in the 

latter stages of the battle on the side of the Palestinians, had 128 of 

its forces killed and wounded. Tens of thousands came out to pay 

their respects. The Jordanian Government paraded the destroyed 

tanks and armored vehicles in Amman. 

Not all Palestinian historians viewed the Battle of Karameh as a 

Palestinian victory. Rashid Khalidi noted that although the 

Palestinians had inflicted great losses on the Israelis, their losses 

were much more. He concludes, "This was no Arab victory, at least 

not militarily". '6 

Whatever the arguments , the Battle of Karameh marked an 

imp~xtant turning point in the history of the Palestinian resistance. It 

reinforced the credibility of the resistance among the Arab masses 

and demonstrated its capacity to be steadfast. As a result the Battle 

of Karameh is often seen as the second launch of the Palestinian 

revolution after its initial launch in January 1965.7 

The Cairo Agreement 

Despite its military setbacks Fateh recorded some gains _ondthe 

b rld they were recogmze as 

political front. Throughout the Ara wo h d d hat the Arab 

h c d" to Israel. They a one w 
eroes 1or stan 1ng up . c ed the resignation 

11 t" ly Having 1orc 
armies had failed to do co ec ive · h. of the PLO in December 

of Ahmad Shuqayri from the leaders. ip ·t·on wi'thin the PLO. 

l .d t d their posi i 
1967, Fateh members conso 1 a e . I d by Fateh 

. f ghters factions , e ' 

In February 1969 t~e resistanceo theaded by Yasser Arafat. At a 

took over the · leadership of the PL .
1 1 

Id in Cairo 57 from a 

. . N . al Counci 1e ' . 
meeting of the Palestine ation . fighters factions. 

d the resistance 
total of 105 seats were allotte to h y was cleared for 

· Fateh t e wa 
With 33 of the 57 seats going to . f h PLO.s 

h · ansh1p O t e h 
Yasser Arafat to assume the c airm bliged to give t e 

nment was o . h d 
Meanwhile in Lebanon the Gover f' t bases were estabhs e 

. ' h d The irs 
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there in the winter of 1968-69. It was in the same year that the 
Palestinian revolution arrived in Lebanon.9 Lebanon's mountains 

' caves and thick bushes offered a much better environment for 
guerilla warfare than Jordan or the West Bank. As in Jordan, the 
actions of the resistance fighters provoked the wrath of Israel. 
Lebanon was drawn ever closer into full confrontation with Israel. 

Tensions between the Palestinians and Lebanese escalated. 
Abdul Nasser invited Arafat and the Lebanese chief of staff, General 
Emile Lahoud, to talks on resolving their differences. These resulted 
in the Cairo Agreement of 3 November 1969. According to it, the 
PLO agreed to confine its activities to the southern part of the 
country and to coordinate with the Lebanese army. As a result of 
the agreement the Palestinians emerged in Lebanon as a greater 
force. The Cairo Agreement amounted to the granting of autonomy 
to the commandos within Lebanon and their right to launch attacks 
across the border as long as they coordinated with the Lebanese 
army. It was the PLO 's first major political breakthrough in 
Lebanon.10 

Black September 
Back in Jordan, thousands of young Palestinians volunteered to 

join Fateh after the Battle of Karameh. King Hussein viewed the 
growing influence of the Palestinians with unease. Palestinians 
controlled in the northern Jordanian towns of Irbid and Jerash. 
More roadblocks began to appear on the streets of Amman. 
Fatheh's men reacted with hostility toward the authorities when the 
searches on them intensified. 

The mutual suspicion between the PLO and the Jordanian 
authorities was nonetheless fuelled by external forces. It was not in 
their interests to encourage the full cooperation and unity of the 
Jordanian and Palestinian people. Hence, they circulated rumors that 
the PLO had become a state within a state with its own military, 
administrative, financial, cultural and information structures and they 
were planning to stage a coup against the ruling Jordanian 
Hashemite family. 

Elsewhere in the region, the "War of Attrition", which Egypt 
started in 1969 against Israel, was dangerously escalating into all out 
war. The Soviet rearming of the Egyptian army was surpassed with 
the American supply of advanced weapons to Israel. Egypt 's 
strategic position, military strength and political influence in the 
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gl·on caused immense worry 1·n W: h' 
re as mgton The h d f' d 

to extract it from the s . · Y a to m a 
way ov1et camp and 1· · 

, ·ry neutra 1ze tt to ensure 
Israel s secun . 

The task of neutralizing Egypt was easier th . 
. . . an 1t seemed. Abdul 

Nasser's 1egi~e was coining under increasing pressure at home to 

do wl~ateve1 was necessary to regain Egyptian land _ either by 

militanly or a peace settlement. Abdul Nasser chose the latter. Th 

American baited him with the Rogers · Plan (named after the u; 
secretary of State, William Rogers] to settle the Arab-Israeli conflict. 

Based on UN resolution 242 the plan offered the return of Arab 

land for their recognition of Israel. On 23 July 1970 Egypt accepted 

the plan to the dismay and anger of the Palestinians. The PLO 

condemned the decision and Palestinians took to the streets in 

Amman and other Jordanian cities. Egypt's acceptance of the Rogers 

Plan made it easier for Hussein, the Jordanian King, to follow suit. 

On 29 August Hussein also announced Jordan's acceptance. 

The PLFP led by George Habash and PDFLP led by Naif 

Hawathmah both denounced the Egyptian and Jordanian 

governments. The PLFP was particularly scathing in its personal 

attacks on Abdul Nasser who reacted by urging Hussein to suppress 

the resistance. In Jordan, on 1 August, shots were fired on King 

Hussein while on his way to the airport and on another occasion 

while returning to Amman from his palace in al-Hamr. 11 The _f~nal 

straw was the PLFP hijacking of three civilian aircrafts (British , 

American and Swiss) on 30 August and landing them in Jordan. 

When the King refused their demands they released their hostages 

and blew up the planes on the tarmac. 

The Jordanian army launched its attack in the dawn of 15 
· · · the refugee 

September 1970 The resistance fighters poSittons 111 . l 
· b.d bombed from the air anc 

camps in Amman Zarqa and Ir 1 were 
, . . tinued from street to street 

land. For eleven days fierce fighting co~ f th army the 
. h ipenor power o e 

and house to house. Despite t e st h d about five 
. d h . ound In t e en ' 

resistance fighters hel t elf gr · d nded _ most 
d ty thousan wou 

thousand people were killed an twen 

Were civilians. a cease-fire. 

I d t Cairo to arrange 
On 25 September Arafat trave e O the Jordanian 

Th· s t mber between · 
ts was concluded on 2_8. ep e . ce. After their defeat in 

authorities and the Palestinian resistan . in the hills and 
. .· d to reg1oup . 

Amman the resistance fighters tt ie h i11ilit'1ry operations 

f 
When t e ' 

0 rests in the north of the country. 
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were finally ended in July 1971 the resistance fighters presence in 
Jordan was almost non-existent. Their last remnants, including the 
leader Abu Ali Iyad, were killed. His body was dragged behind a 
tank through neighboring villages of Jersh. 

As in the 1967 War, there was again speculation about American 
involvement. Here it concerned the role of Syria, the only Arab 
country that attempted to come to the aid of the resistance fighters. 
Syrian tanks had actually crossed the border. The Jordanians 
contacted the State Department and asked if Israel would provide 

air support to Jordan against the advancing Syrian tanks. 12 Henry 
Kissinger [National Security Advisor under President Richard Nixon] 
told the Israeli Prime Minister, Yitshak Rabin, that the US would 

look favorably if Israel carried out an air attack on the Syrians. 13 

Acting on the apparent instructions of the Soviets the Syrians 

decided to withdraw their tanks. 

Through painful sacrifice the Palestinian leadership was forced to 
learn two important lessons from the events of Black September. 
The first was that they could not afford to rely on others to fight 
their cause and, secondly, that they should steer clear of interference 
in the internal politics of Arab governments. Fateh summed up the 
sense of disappointment in its resistance paper issue of 6 July 1971 
by condemning the Arab governments for "not having done 
anything to stop the massacre of the Palestinian people in Jordan". 
Yasser Arafat went even further when he told a meeting of 
Palestinians in Algiers in January 1972 "yes, we suffered a serious 
defeat in Jordan," "But the operation was not purely Jordanian. It 
was an Arab plot"_ 13 
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points of Review 
• After 1967 th_e leadership of Fateh sought to exploit the popular 

discontent with the Arab regimes. 

• The Battle of Karameh marked the second launch of the 
Palestinian revolution. 

• The events of September 1970 put an effective end to fidaeyeen 
operations from Jordan. 

Questions 
1. Explain why the Palestinian and Jordanian masses celebrated the 

outcome of the Battle of Karameh. 
2. To what extent did the PLO benefit from the 1969 Cairo 

Agreement? 
3. What factors led to the confrontation between the Jordanian 

authorities and the PLO in September 1970? 
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Chapter 18 

From Total Liberation to National Authority 

Although the Cairo Agreement ended the fighting between the 

Jordanian authorities and the resistance fighters, tensions between 

the two sides persisted. In the short term, the resistance fighters

were in no position to turn the military balance in their favour.
Besides, they needed time to recover from the crushing blows of 

September 1970. 

On the diplomatic front, there were some significant advances

concerning the recognition of Palestinian rights. In December 1969 

the UN, for the first time, referred to the Palestinians as a people 

and distinct national group [GA Res. 25351. It affirmed the 

inalienable rights of the Palestinian people under its Charter and 

international law. The following year, 8 December 1970, the 
General Assembly recognized the Palestinian right to self 

determination by a majority of more than two-thirds. The resolution 

GA/2672), stated that the fulfilment of this right was essential for a 
just and lasting peace in the Middle East. 

The adoption of these resolutions signalled an important break 
from the past. It meant that the Palestinian people could now speak 
on their own behalf and, determine their aspirations and the means 
to achieve them. 

One of the immediate challenges facing the Palestinian 

resistance at this stage was that of unifying their ranks. This was 

absolutely necessary in order to fend off external interference in 
their affairs. With regard to Jordan's King Hussein, there was still a 
lingering mistrust that he wanted to speak on behalf of the 
Palestinians. With Fateh substantially weakened after 1970 the PLO 
was drawn ever closer toward the negotiating table. 

Prior to 1968 the goal of the Palestinian people was the tota 
liberation of their homeland and the expulsion of the newly arrived 
Jewish immigrants. The focus was on returning the Palestinians to 

their homeland. Since Israel denied Palestinians this right, they 

concluded that the best way to achieve it was through the liberation 
of the land. From a purely historical point of view, the liberation of 
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Dalestine was no different from the liberation of former European colonies in Africa or Latin America. 

By mid 1968 Fateh began to change its approach saying that 
their aim was not the expulsion of the Jewish immigrants but rather 

the establishment of a democratic state with equal rights for all its 

Deoples, including Jews. In a press conference conducted in 
October 1968 Abu Iyad explained Fateh's strategy was the 
establishment of a democratic state in Palestine inhabited by 

Muslims, Christians and Jews. On 1 January 1969 the organization's 
Central Committee confirmed this in a statement. The Fifth 
Congress of the PNC in February 1969 declared that the Palestinian 
people aimed "to set up a free and democratic society in 

Palestine...and liberate Palestine from the domination of 
international Zionism'2 

The supporters of the policy did not see it as a climb down or 

deviation from original principles. The Fateh representative in Paris 
at the time, Muhammad Abu Mayzar [Abu Hatim), said that it was 

consistent with the position of several Palestinian organizations 
before Israel was created. He cited the National Liberation League, 
which had set the creation of a democratic state as its main 

objective.3 
The apparent changes in the PLO political programme were 

unhinged when King Hussein announced plans in 1972 to unify the 

two peoples on both sides of the Jordan River into a single 
kingdom under his rule. The Palestinian leadership naturally 
became sceptical that Jordan would enter into an agreement with 

srael and the Americans at the expense of the Palestinian people. 

he King told a group of Palestinians and Jordanians on 14 

rebruary 1972 that after consultation in America and Europe he had 

cided to change the name of his kingdom from the Hashemite 

Angdom of Jordan to the United Arab Kingdom and establish an 

autonomous rule in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. 
According to the Jordanians, the new kingdom would have a 

Central legislative council headed by the King and, with him, a 

Lational assembly elected by secret ballot with equal representation 
rom the two parts of the kingdom. They would each have a 

Council of ministers and a single armed force headed by the King.4 

Ang Hussein's United Arab Kingdom failed to materialize because 
Srael refused to withdraw from the territories it occupied in 1967. 
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The PLO rejected the proposal. Given its wide influence in the territories the King could not muster the public support needed to take the project forward and it died in its infancy. 
The October War

Of the states neighboring Israel, Egypt and Syria came under the 
most pressure from their people after the 1967 War. Israel's 
unwillingness to implement UN Resolution 242 caused great 
frustration and anger. It is a resolution which since its adoption by 
the Security Council on 22 November 1967, has been regarded as 
the basis of a just and lasting peace in the Middle East. It specifically called for the "withdrawal of Israeli armed forces from territories 
Occupied in the recent conflict". 

In a statement issued on 26 February 1971 the Israelis informed 
Gunnar Jarring, the special UN representative appointed to 
negotiate between the parties, that "Israel would not withdraw to 
the pre-5 June 1967 lines". The statement explained that Israel 
would only withdraw to what it determines as safe and secure 
borders to be agreed through negotiations with the Arabs states. It 
was clear from this that the Israelis were not willing to return the 
territories it acquired by force. 

It must be recalled that the ambiguity of the resolution allowed Israel to continue its occupation of the captured territory. The 
resolution, sponsored by France and the United Kingdom, varied in the two languages. While the French version used the definite article "the" in respect of the territories to be evacuated by Israel, the English version did not have the definite article. Four parties to the conflict; Egypt, Jordan Lebanon and Israel accepted the resolution. Syrian and the PLO rejected it. 

After September 1970, Lebanon became the centre for the regrouping and rebuilding of the Palestinian resistance forces. In April 1973 the Israelis launched one of their most daring attacks on the PLO in Beirut. The attack was in apparent revenge for the 19/4 kidnap and murder of 11 members of the Israeli Olympic team in 
Munich by an organization calling itself Black September.° The organization also claimed responsibility for the assassination in 
Cairo of the Jordanian Prime Minister, Wasfi al-Tal, in Novembe 1971. Israeli sources maintained that Black September was linked to 
Fateh and its key leaders such as Abu Iyad, Abu jihad, MohammadDaoud and Ali Hasan Salameh. Abu Iyad believed he was the main 
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target 
et of the Israeli raid on the Fateh/PLO apartments in April 1973. 

They wanted wanted to liquidate him and the Fateh leadership. Arafat was 

in 
he headquarters at the time but managed to escape. The Israelisilled three top PLO officials; Kamal Udwan, Muhammad Yousef al- killed three 

Kaiiar [the PLO'S Foreign Minister at the time] and Kamal Nassar, a 

prominent poet and PLO spokesman. 

While Israel stepped up its pursuit of the Palestinian leadership 
and sympathizers in the region and Europe, the new leaders of 

Egypt and Syria focused on the rebuilding of their armies. Both 

Anwar Sadat and Hafez Asad had to do something to stem the 

growing tide of unrest in Egypt and Syria respectively. After 1967, 

Israeli troops were stationed on the eastern banks of the Suez Canal 

about 105 kilometers from Cairo. In the case of Syria they were 
stationed near Sa'sa' village about 50 kilometers south of Damascus. 

By August 1973 the count down to war began. That month Sadat 
informed Farouq Qadummi and Abu lyad of his intention to goto 
war. On 9 September he invited them again to another meeting, this 

time with Arafat. He outlined his plan in detail and, after what he 

hoped would be a limited war, Sadat informed them that he would 

call for a peace conference of all the parties./ 

On 6 October 1973 Egyptian troops crossed the Suez 

simultaneously with a Syrian attack on the Golan. In the initial 

exchanges the Egyptians drove back the Israeli occupiers. Israel 

retaliated by bombing government buildings in Damascus and 

power plants around the country. From the time the war started 

ISrael appealed to the US to hasten and increase its delivery of arms 

supplies. That delivery began on 7 October.8 This intervention 

provoked the outrage of the moderate governments in the region. 

audi Arabia's King Faisal took the lead by ordering a 25% cut in oil 

production and an embargo against the US. 

On 22 October the UN Security Council adopted Resolution 338, 

wnich was jointly drafted and sponsored by the US and the Soviet 

The resolution called for a cease-fire within 12 hours of its 

ption and the immediate implementation of Resolution 242. 

Despite the resolution, Israeli troops, led by Ariel Sharon, continued 

Push its way south and succeeded to cut the Third Egypiai 

On the east bank of the Suez from its supplies. The dovici army on 

ed to intervene if the US did not prevent
Israel from forcing

threatened to 
nder after the war was declared ended. With both American 

a 

eets lurking in the Mediterranean waters near Crete this 
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was probably one of the worst crisis between the two powers since 

World War II.9 

In accordance with Resolutions 338 and 242 a conference as 
convened in Geneva on 21 December 1973. While Syria boycotted 
the event, Egypt and Jordan decided to attend. Despite the 
centrality of the Palestinian conflict to regional peace the PLO was 
not invited. They were, until this point, still opposed to Resolution 
242. If they attended this it could have been interpreted as an 
implicit recognition of the resolution. The Geneva conference 
marked the first direct negotiations between the Arabs and Israel 
since 1948. The October War did not result in the liberation of 
occupied Arab lands or Palestine. It did, however, create the conditions for negotiations with Israel, something that Sadat desired. 

ras 

The Ten-Point Programme 

The PLO was extremely sceptical of the negotiating process. They feared it would result in the creation of self-autonomous entity in the West Bank and Gaza Strip under Jordanian rule. The matter was discussed among the various factions who decided on a strategy to prevent this. They called for the creation of a "national authority" in any liberated part of Palestine under Palestinian leadership. 
On 8 June 1974 the 12th Session of the Palestinian National Council met in Cairo and adopted a programmed based on ten points as the basis for the resolution of the conflict. The Counci reaffirmed its rejection of UN Resolution 242. It declared that the PLO would struggle to liberate Palestinian land and establish "the people's national, independent and fighting authority over every part of Palestinian land which is liberated". Point 4 of the programme stated: "Any liberation step that achieved constitutes a step for continuing [the efforts] to achieve the PLO strategy for the establishment of the Palestinian democrau state that is stipulated in the resolutions of the previous nationa councils". 

The meeting had hardly adjourned before King Husse challenged the PLO, claiming to be the rightful representative or u the one million Palestiníans in his kingdom and the one and a i 
half million others in the West Bank and Gaza Strip. Both Preside nt Sadat and King Faisal of Arabia declared their support for Hussein. 
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The strugele to represent the Palestinian people was soon to be 

decided at the Seventh Summit of Arab Leaders scheduled for Rabat 

on 2 October 1974. The day before the conference opened, 180 28 

minent Palestinians in the occupied territories signeda 

dum and smuggled it out to Arafat. It recognized the PILO 
memorandu 

and not Hussein as the "sole legitimate representative of the 

Palestinian people". Despite a skilful and impassioned speech by 

Hussein, setting out his claim, the conference declared the PLO the 

"sole legitimate representative of the Palestinian people". They 

followed this up with a request to the UN urging that it invited the 

organization to the next session of the General Assembly. The UN 

granted the request and Arafat was invited to the 29th Session in 

November 1974. 

Arafat received a standing ovation when he made his dramatic 

appearance at the UN. They did the same when he ended his 

speech, which lasted 101 minutes. His final two sentences are still 

remembered. "I have come bearing an olive branch and a freedom 

fighter's gun. Do not let the olive branch fall from my hand". The 

reaction to Arafat's speech was positive and encouraging. Later that 

month the General Assembly (GA) adopted Resolution 3236 which: 

Reaffirms the inalienable rights of the Palestinian people in 

Palestine, including 
i. The right to self-determination without external interference. 

ii. The right to national independence and sovereignty. 

Reaffirms also the inalienable right of the Palestinians to return 

to their homes and property from which they have been 

displaced and uprooted, and calls for their return. 

Emphasizes that full respect for and the realization of these 

inalienable rights of the Palestinian people are indispensable for 

the solution of the question of Palestine. 

Lebanon's Civil War 
Arafat's diplomatic coup at the UN strengthened the PLO and his 

wn position within the organization. Nowhere was this more 

rest than in Lebanon. Not all sections of the society welcomea 

DC developments. Lebanon's 17 sects had, for many years in the 

Pas, indulged in bitter rivalries and violent feuding. After the signing8 

e national pact" [Al-Mithaq al-Wantani] in 1943, the country s 

n Maronite leader Bishara Khoury and the Sunni Muslim 

Chri 
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leader Riad Sulh maintained, through a system of proportional representation, a delicate balance between the competing sects. 
With the arrival of the Palestinian fighters after 1968 the underlying weakness of the Lebanese policy was tested to the limits. The country became the focus of Israeli attacks as more and 

more Palestinians sought refuge there. Large swathes of territory in the south were devastated and abandoned by its people. By striking hard and randomly, the Israelis hoped to turn the Lebanese 
against the Palestinians and curb the latter's ability to launch cross- 
border attacks.10 

By January 1975 the Israeli raids on southern Lebanon escalated 
considerably, sometimes continuing for days without respite. The 
village of Kfar Shuba in particular bore the brunt of the Israeli 
attacks. When the locals could no longer bear the indifference of 
the Lebanese army toward their security, they attacked a 

municipality building in Marjayoun. While venting anger upon the 
Lebanese army the villagers shouted slogans of praise for the PLO 
and its heroic resistance.11 

Two incidents confirmed the contrasting public attitudes towards 
the army and PLO. The first was the exceptionally large turnout of 

mourners for the funeral procession of the PLO leaders killed by the 

Israelis in Beirut in 1973. The second was a similar large turn out in 
February 1975 for the funeral of a local politician, Maruf Sa'd, who 
died from gunshot wounds sustained in a demonstration of local 
fishermen in the port city of Sidon. Many Christians believed the 
demonstration had less to do with the demands of local fishermen 
than it did with attempts to cripple the army and undermine the 
state.12 

The actual start of the Lebanese civil war is often dated as 15 

April 1975 as it was the day gunmen fired on Pierre Gemayel, the 
head of the Phalangist Party. The Christian Maronite, Gemayel 
family had founded the party in the 1930s. Their relations with 
Israel started in 1948, which continued with interruptions for the 
next two decades and became a full-blown alliance in the mid 

1970s.15 Christian gunmen responded to the shooting by firing on a 
bus carrying Palestinian children. The Palestinian resistance groups 
retaliated and thus began the war. The Syrian backed Sa'iqa and the 
Democratic Front led by Naif Hawathmah did much of the fighting 

until December 1975. Fateh did not get involved during this eariy 

phase. 
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therefore be expelled. For its part, Fateh had the bitter memories of 

san elsewhere. Significantly, the Christian Maronites were not 

The Phalangists claimed that the Palestinians had undermined cOcial and political balance of the country and that they should 

Amman. Its Amman. Its leadership were well aware that if they were thrown 
at of Lebanon they would encounter great difficulty finding 

isolated in the Arab world. Both Pierre Gemayel and Kamil 

shimuon had good relations with Jordan and the Arab Gulf states, 14 

Throughout the first 19 months of the war the Arab states 

remained silent and avoided any criticism of the Maronites. They 

did not regard the war as a religious conflict. On the contrary they 

saw it as a power struggle between Lebanon's left leaning 
nationalist forces led by Kamal Jumblatt, head of the Druze, on the 
one hand, and the Maronites on the other. At the same time the 

Arabs states knew that Israel was also helping the Maronites. Many 

Phalange officers and troops had received military training inside 

Israel. Manachem Begin later confirmed that they had contributed 

$100 million to the Phalangists, however, CIA sources reported the 

figure was closer to $300 million. 

In January 1976 the Phalangists moved against the Palestinian 

refugee camps north of Beirut. The onslaught convinced Fateh that 

there was a plan to eliminate the Palestinian presence from 

Lebanon. It could no longer remain a passive spectator and 

therefore decided to move its forces from the south to the northern 

camps. Karantina was the first of the camps to fall. It was a poopr 

enclave with about 30,000 Palestinian Muslims. The Phalangists 

then blockaded and attacked Jisr Pasha and Tel al-Za'atar camps. 

ADOut 1,500 refugees were killed in Tel al-Za'atar, many of them 

after they had surrendered. 

wnen an Arab League's mediator arrived in the Phalangist base 

August 1976 he found two Syrian officers and two Israelis 

of fic there. Several years later, when defending 
himself for 

Eliezer wer sent to Beirut to assess 
Phalangists' 

needs. "The team 

nplicity in the Sabra and Shatila massacres, 
Ariel Sharon pointed 

ilar Israeli involvement in the Tel al-Za'atar massacre. 
Other 

to 

Chriee: 
watched training met Phalangist 

officers and 
observed 

the 

t Christia ans attack the Palestinian
stronghold

of Tel 
al-Za'atar". The 

8ources 
confirm that four officers led by Col. Abraham Ben 

I 
CCOmmended to their superiors in Jerusalem a major 

boost of 

sraeli arms supplies. 
16 
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The Sabra and Shatila Massacres 

Israel's invasion of Lebanon in 1982 had a major impact on the 
Palestinian national movement. It came after the shooting of the 
Israeli ambassador in London. "Operation Peace for Galilee" Was 
however, planned long before. The mastermind of the invasion 
Ariel Sharon, deployed 90,000 men, 1,300 tanks, 12,000 troop and 
supply trucks, 1,300 armoured personnel carriers and most of 
Israel's 634 combat aircrafts.17 For 67 days they laid siege to Arafat 
and his PLO fighters in west Beirut. Given the amount of force used 
by the Israelis, the Palestinian resistance was quite remarkable. 

By mid August an agreement was hammered out between Philip Habib, the US special envoy and the PLO. It provided for the 
evacuation of Palestinian fighters and their safe passage to Tunisia 
where the Government had bowed to American pressure to grant them sanctuary. Before agreeing to the evacuation plan the PLO 
leadership insisted on, and were given assurances, that the 
Palestinian civilian population would not be harmed. Thereafter, a 
multinational force of French and American soldiers arrived on 25 
August to supervise the evacuation. Following a brief farewel1 
ceremony on 30 August, Arafat set sail from Beirut with the last group of his fighters. 

At the time many Lebanese were happy to see the departure of the PLO. The organization had become isolated from the society in the immediate period before 1982. Indeed, the PLO had become tied down in fighting with local militias such as the Shi'ite Amal. Despite the lessons of 1970 they allowed themselves to be dragged into the local politics, thereby destabilizing the fragile Lebanese system. While the Lebanese state appeared to be on the verge ot collapse the PLO had grown increasingly into a para-state with Arafat assuming all the trappings of a national leader and managing a budget that was larger than that of the Lebanese Government. 
Shortly after the departure of the PLO the multinational force pulled out of Beirut. Based on the assurances given to the PLO 1t 

was expected that the force would remain longer and protect thePalestinian civilians in the camps. The day after their departure, 14 September, the Lebanese President Bashier Gemayel was killed in a 
bomb attack on the headquarters of the Phalange Party. This incident set the stage for one of the worst massacres of Palestinians in the twentieth century. From the evening of 16 to morning of 18 
September, Phalangist militiamen embarked on a campaign of 
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frenzied slaughter of Palestinian refugees in Sabra and Shatila 

camps. 
For all its ferocity, the massacres in Sabra and Shatila were not 

solely the handiwork of the Phalangists. The sraelis were equally 
involved. They reacted to the killing of the President Gemayel by 

moving their forces into west Beirut, in breach of the assurances 

given to Philip Habib. They claimed this was done in order to 
maintain "law and order". Chief of Staff Rafael Eitan and Defence 

Force Commander, General Amir Drori of Israel met with Phalangist 
leaders in east Beirut and agreed to attack the camps and clear out 

the remaining "terrorists". 18 

The MacBride Commission into the massacres concluded that 

they were part of a pattern of "terror" that went back many years to 

Deir Yassin. The Commission added that Israel's involvement in the 

planning, assistance and control of events which led to the 

massacres meant that it had committed "gravest breaches" of the 

Fourth Geneva Convention,19 As the Occupying Power it was 

obliged to protect the civilian population of the country it 

Occupied. The total number of Palestinians killed was estimated 

between 3,000-3,500 in 40 hours of bloodletting.20 

Although the massacres in Sabra and Shatila will always be 

remembered as one of the worst atrocities of modern times, it must 

not be forgotten that several other refugee camps also suffered 

incalculable losses. Rashidiyeh, Ain el Hilweh, Bourj al-Brajneh, 

Bourj al-Shemeli and el Buss were all heavily bombarded by the 
Israelis. Dr Swee Chai Ang, a British medical doctor working in the 

Gaza Hospital in Shatila camp at the time, described the carnage: 

Besides being shot dead, people were totured before being killed. 

Ihey were beaten brutally, electric wires were tied round limbs, 

eyes were dug out, women were raped, often more than once, 

children were dynamitedalive". 

The Camp David Accords 

While the PLO became ever more embroiled in the Lebanese 

C war, Israel was busily engaged in secret negotiations with 

8ypt. After the 1973 War President Anwar Sadat seemed to have 

undergone a major change. One of the most noticeable signs of this 

was the content and style of his speeches. They no longer contained 

ne aggressive and rhetoric of the past. In October 1973 he invited 

enry Kissinger to Egypt to discuss the withdrawal of Israeli troops 
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from Egyptian territory. The Israelis had stationed troops on the west bank of the Suez. Their presence proved to be a constant irritant as it belied Sadat's claims of victory. Kissinger arrived in Cairo on 6 November, launching what was to become fanmously known as his "shuttle diplomacy" 
After being a staunch ally of the Soviet Union in the region and adversary of the US, Sadat was criticized widely for turning to the Americans. He answered his critics saying he would "turn to the US, the Soviet Union, or the devil himself" if it were going to lead 

to Israel's withdrawal from the Sinai.22 Sadat's quiet diplomacy led 
to the restoration of diplomatic relations with the US during the Nixon era, which had been broken since 1967. He continued to 
press for a comprehensive Middle East peace conference with al the parties including the PLO. 

Parallel to these initiatives, Sadat also embarked on a course of 
secret and direct negotiations with the Israelis, which even his 
closest aides were unaware of.25 On 9 November 1977 he told the 
Egyptian parliament in the presence of Arafat that he was prepared to go to the end of the earth, even to the Knesset for the sake of 
peace. By ensuring that Arafat was present, Sadat apparently sought 
to give the impression that Arafat supported his overture. The latter 
was enraged and stormed out of the parliament. 

Though addressed to the Egyptian parliament the speech was 
also directed to the Israelis. They duly obliged by sending him an 
invitation. Thus, on 19 November 1977 Sadat visited Jerusalem and 
addressed the Knesset three days later. President Carter took full 
advantage of the visit and quickly invited Prime Minister Begin and 
President Sadat to his Camp David presidential retreat "to seek a 
framework for peace in the Middle East". The meeting of the three 
sides lasted from 5-17 September 1978 and resulted in two sets or 

agreements known as the Camp David Accords. 

The Camp David Accords were celebrated as a great 
breakthrough. The first of the two documents was titled "A Framework for Peace in the Middle East". The second was titled "A 
Framework for the Conclusion of a Peace Treaty Between Egypl 
and Israel". The latter was signed in Washington on 26 March 19/. 

Of the two, the first document was the more controversial as l 
sought to resolve the Palestine Question. It promised "ful 

autonomy" and a sell-governing authority" for the Palestinians 

the West Bank and Gaza Strip and the implementation of "the 
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claims of ms of its Success, the Camp David Accords fell well short 

ovisions and visions and principles of resolutions 242 and 338". Despite the 
Palestinian expectations. 

shortly after the signing of the Framework for Peace in the Middle East the UN adopted a resolution declaring it invalid. On 7 December 1978 the GA declared in Resolution 33/28: "The validity of agreements purporting to solve the problem of Palestine requires that they lie within the framework of the United Nations and its 
Charter and its resolutions on the basis of the full attainment and 
exercise of the inalienable rights of the Palestinian people, including the right of return and the right to national independence 
and sovereignty in Palestine and with the participation of the 

Palestinian Liberation Organization". 

The following year the Assembly further declared in Resolution 
34/65 of 29 November 1979: "The Camp David accords and other 
agreements have no validity in so far as they purport to determine 

the future of the Palestinian people and of Palestinian territories 

Occupied by Israel since 1967". 

One of the most important criticisms raised by the Palestinians 

about the Accord was that it envisaged a solution of the Palestine 

problem only in the West Bank and Gaza. It ignored all the other 

Palestinian rights usurped in 1948 and 1949. 

On another level, they also raised the question of representation. 
Anwar Sadat, they argued, had no right to negotiate the future and 

ghts or territory of the Palestinians. They did not entrust him to do 

SO. Furthermore, the full autonomy which the Accord promised, 

was itself deficient because its powers were limited only to 

nunicipal matters. Fayez Sayegh, an eminent Palestinian scholar 

d diplomat, explained what the Camp David Accord promised to 

the Palestinians: 

A fraction of the Palestinian people (under one-third of the 

Ole) is promised a fraction of its rights (not including the 

Onal right to self-determination and statehood) in a fraction of 

nomeland (less than one-fifth of the area of the whole); and this 

Omise is to be fulfilled several years from now, through a step Dy 

process in which Israel is able at every point to exercise a 

step 
decisive O-power over any 

zreement. 
Beyond that, the vast 

najority of Palestini is condemned to permanent 
loss of its 

stinian national identity, to permanent 
exile and statelessness, 
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to permanent separation from one another and from Palestine to 

a life without national hope or meaning!24 

Points of Review 

After 1970 the PLO was fearful that Jordan would enter into an 
agreement with Israel at the expense of the Palestinian people. 

Israel's invasion of Lebanon in 1982 had a major impact on the 

Palestinian national movement. 

.The Camp David Accord ignored the rights of the Palestinians 
that were usurped prior to 1967. 

Questions 
1. In what sense was Arafat's appearance at the UN in 1974 a 

diplomatic coup? 
2. Comment on the role played by Israel in the planning and 

conduct of massacres of Palestinian refugees in Lebanon. 

3. Explain why the UN declared the Camp David Accords invalid. 
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From Intifada to Oslo 

Ariel Sharon's decision to invade Lebanon was t 1 
. d • no on y 

010uvated by a es ire to crush the PLO, the decision was al 

1
. . d so 

based on a po icy inten ed to change the status quo in the West 

Bank. Sharon presumed that the PLO leadership would take refuge 

in Syria and thereby lose its independence. At that point, Israel 

would be able to negotiate with a weakened Palestinian leadership 

in the West Bank on a formula of self-autonomy, according to 

Israel's rules. Such an arrangement would enable Israel to dominate 

the territories for another thirty years and establish irreversible facts 

on the ground. 1 

In the end the Israelis failed to realize their dream. The people 

of the West Bank rallied together in support of their fellow 

countrymen in Lebanon. Faced with unprecedented international 

outrage over the massacres in Sabra and Shatila both Ariel Sharon 

and Prime Minister Manachem Begin were forced to resign in mid 

1983. An interim Prime Minister, Yitshak Shamir, was then installed 

in Israel. He remained in office as head of national unity 

government after the deadlocked elections of July 1984. 

The Likud-Labour ad1ninistration continued to pursue Israel's 

strategic goal of settlement expansion in the Occupied Territories. 

They claimed it was necessary for Israel's defence and existence. 

The Government was, however, hard pressed for money to build 

the settlements as the war in Lebanon was draining resources. As a 

consequence, the number of settlers dropped from 15,000 in 1983 

to 4,800 in 1985. 2 

Meanwhile , the economy of the West Bank, like Israel , also 

grounded to a standstill after 1981. The Occupying Power could not 

improve the quality of life of the Palestinians as it claimed it would. 

Thousands of Palestinians were graduating each year and cot~ld n~t 

find work. Many families in the territories depended on relatives 10 

th · sion in the area had 
e Gulf for remunerations. The economic reces . 

. . d ds Widespread 
a negative impact on Palestinian living stan ar · 85 

h 
ct· . on 4 August 19 t e 
iscontent soon gave rise to social unrests· . "' 

c b· by approving an iron 
a inet responded to the growing unreSts 
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fist' policy to deal with the Palestinia~ resistance. ~ensions reached 
its climax in 15 November 1986 with the stabbing of a Jewish 
student in Jerusalem. This was followed by calls for a pogrom 

against Arabs in the city.3 

The hardliners in Israel never recognized the national aspirations 
of the Palestinians claiming that the most they could hope for was 
limited administrative autonomy. They claimed the West Bank was 
the biblical land of Judea and Samaria granted to them by divine 
right. During the 1960s and 70s thousands of Israelis settled in and 
around Jerusalem and the Jordan Valley. By 1988 they had taken 
control of 55% of the West Bank and 30% of the Gaza Strip. The 
distribution of water resources highlighted the disparity between 
the condition of the settlers and that of the Palestinians. While the 
settlers drilled 27 wells between 1967 and 1983 not one Palestinian 
village or individual was allowed to drill a single well during the 

same period. 4 

By 1987, conditions in the refugee camps had become utterly 
intolerable. Half the population of the Gaza Strip were refugees who 
lived in eight overcrowded camps administered by UNRWA. The 
largest of these was Jabaliyah, which sheltered 40,000 refugees. In 
the West Bank the largest camp was Balata with about 12,000 
inhabitants. These overcrowded and deprived enclaves provided the 
most fertile conditions for Palestinian discontent to ferment and 
erupt. Their bitter memories of the Nakba, the denial of their right of 
return, and subjection to a military occupation all contributed to the 
outbreak of the 1987-1993 Intifada-uprising.5 

Wherever it occurred in the past, the usurpation of national and 
human rights has resulted in the degradation and servitude of the 
dispossessed. Nine out of ten times it gave rise to bitter and 
protracted conflict the type of which has engulfed Palestine. Israel, 
the colonial power, was now on a collision course with the 
Palestinians seeking their own destiny. 

In accounting for the underlying causes of the Intifada the 
former Mayor of _G~za ~ity, Rashad Shawa explained the feelings 
among the Palest1?1ans m the Occupied Territories, "they lost all 
hope that Israel will ever give them their rights, they feel the Arab 
governments cannot deliver and the PLO has failed". 6 

The final spark that ignited the Inti·fad h bb' t a was t e sta mg o 
death of an Israeli businessman Shlomo T k 1 · G 6 , a a , 1n aza on 
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pecember 1987 · T':o days later, an Israeli truck killed four 
residents of the Jabahyah camp. The driver was rumoured to be a 
relative of Takal.~ After the Morning Prayer (Fajr) on 9 December a 
huge de~?nstratlon set out from the mosque in Jabaliya camp. The 
Israeli m1htary shot at the demonstrators and killed Hatim Abu S" h d llS. 1,ater on, anot er emonstrator, Raid Shahada, was also killed near 
al-Shifa Hospital. The Muslim Brotherhood issued its first statement 
in the name of the Islamic Resistance Movement (Hamas) on 13 
December 1987. Spontaneous disturbances soon spread to other 
camps in Gaza and then to the West Bank, notably Balata and 
Qalandiya. 

By January 1988 the Intifada had became more organized. 
Shamir's policy of brute force and beatings failed to have an impact. 
On 4 January leaflets were circulated throughout the West Bank 
announcing the formation of the Unified National Command of the 
Uprising. Its main bodies were Fateh, PFLP, DFLP, PFLP- GC [led by 
Ahmad Jibril] and the Islamic Jihad. Its aim was to sustain and direct 
the uprising toward national independence, repatriation, and self­
determination. 

The Rise of the Islamic Movement 

During the 1970s Islamic scholars continued to call for resistance 
against the occupation . They brought together demands for 
reformation and resistance to occupation. Underlying these themes 
was the belief that jihad is a religious duty under Islamic law. They 
were not content to confine themselves to Islamic training [tarbiya] 
and preaching [dawah] without these affecting their lives. 

Prominent among these Palestinian scholars was Shaykh Ya'qub 
Qurashi who had a relationship with Fateh. He began his activities 
in 1977 before he was arrested and deported to Jordan in 1979. 
There was also Shaykh Muhammad Abu Tayr from Jernsalem, he 
was also associated with Fateh. Shaykh Asad Buwayd Tamimi, the 
Imam of Masjid al-Aqsa was among the scholars deported to Jordan 
in 1970. 

The growth of the Islamic movement was not confined to the 
West Bank and Gaza. In 1979 Shaykh Abdullah Nimr Darwish 
launched a trend in Israel under the name of the 'Jihad Family>. This 
trend took root and spread quickly to Gaza where it gave birth to 
the Islamic Jihad Movement. There was, however, no organizational 
relationship between the two. Islamic Jihad was founded in 1980 by 
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Dr Fathi Shiqaqi and Shaykh Abdul Aziz Audeh. Both individuals 
were members of Muslim Brotherhood in Gaza under the leadership 
of Shaykh Ahmad Yasin. They left the movement in the mid 
seventies over differences of how to approach the occupation. 
While Shiqaqi emerged as the main ideologue and military planner 
of Islamic Jihad, Abdul Aziz Audeh was regarded as its spiritual 

leader.8 

Given the background of its founders, Islamic Jihad is regarded 
as an offshoot of the Muslim Brotherhood. To no lesser degree, they 
sought to follow in the footsteps of the hero of the early l 930s 
resistance, Shaykh Qassam. It was the Islamic Jihad's daring military 
operations in the 1980s that inspired the mass uprising. Shiqaqi was 

exiled from Palestine in August 1988. 

Islamic Jihad was further influenced by the successful revolution 
in Iran. Their leadership tried to benefit from the teachings of the 
late Imam Khomeini. They were also influenced by the writings of 
Muhammad Abdul Salam Faraj , founder of the Islamic Jihad in 
Egypt. Shiqaqi, in his book "Al-Khomeini: al-Hal al-Islami wa al­
Badil", repeats the fatwa of Khomeini that it is a religious duty to 
fight Zionism and seek the establishment of an Islamic state in 
Palestine. 

The centrality of Palestine in the ideology of Islamic Jihad was 
affirmed by Shaykh Audeh, "I am a Muslim Palestinian, and I 
consider Palestine the most important country in the Islamic world. 

I look forward to the establishment of an Islamic state in it".9 

Islamic Jihad believes in armed struggle as strategy of political 
work. It does not adhere to the principle of implementing the 
Islamic law [Shari 'ah] before the establishment of an Islamic state in 
Palestine. In its view, a free Palestine must be realized before a 
Muslim Palestine. 

Hamas 

The word Barnas is an acronym for Islamic Resistance 
Movement. It means zeal, enthusiasm, and courage. Hamas regards 
8 December 1987 as the official date of its founding. The political, 
economic and social conditions that gave rise to the Intifada were 
also responsible for the birth of Barnas. There were, besides, other 
factors related to the prevailing intellectual and political currents 

within the Islamic movement in Palestine and Gaza in particular. 11 
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throughout the first half of the 1980 h . 
d b d . s t ere was an mtense 

internal . e ate an gro~mg calls within the Brotherhood for it to 

rernodel its programme m order to engage in active resistance B 

th
e mid 1980s there were signs of change in the d ' · y . . 1scourse. From 

the beginning of ~he Intifada, Hamas announced that it was a 

branch of the Muslim Brotherhood in Palestine.12 By no means did 

it emerge from a vacuum. Quite the opposite, it was a continuation 

of the work started by the Brotherhood in the 1940s. 

In 1973 the Israeli occupation allowed officials from the 

Brotherhood in Gaza to set up "Al-Mujama'a al-Islami" [The Islamic 

center] headed by Shaykh Ahmad Yasin to organize cultural and 

social activities. The Islamic University in Gaza was its stronghold 

and popular support base for these activities. Sometime in the early 

1980s Shaykh Ahmad Yasin founded a military organization -

Mujahidun Filastiniyun - to resist the occupation. The authorities 

discovered it in 1984 and sentenced Shaykh Ahmad Yassin to 13 

years in prison. Despite these setbacks the influence and appeal of 

Hamas continued to grow. The Israelis probably allowed this to 

happen, hoping to weaken the PLO and divert the youth from 

nationalist activities .13 

The return to religion was also a reaction to the violation of the 

religious sites by the occupier. It was generally seen as an attempt 

to erase their Islamic identity. This was manifested in the growth in 

the number of mosques and the numbers of worshipers in them. In 

Gaza the number of mosques grew from 77 after the 1967 war 

tol60 in 1987.14 
Regional factors also contributed to the emergence of Hamas. 

After 1982 the PLO lost its last base from which it could la~1~ch 

attacks on Israel. It turned, after this , almost entirely to pohttcal 

negotiations To make matters worse , there emerged a tendency 

Within the ~rab League to minimize the status of the Palestinian 

conflict The 1986 Arab summit in Jordan added to Palestinian 
· · 1 n the Iran -

bitterness as its resolutions focused almost entire y o 

Iraq war.15 .. 
. f d Hamas formed its military 

After the outbreak of the Intl a ~' 
1 

Q Because they 
Wi ,. h heed Iz al-Din a - assam. . 
. ng, Kataa ib al-S a d f their formation is not 
op . er the exact ate o 

erate m a covert mann . 1989 and the capture of 
known. Although some sources trace it to 
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the Israeli soldier Avi ~asportas, _it is believed
1
~he Kataa'ib [Brigades) 

did not come into their own until early 1991. 
On the political level, Hamas' thought centered around the 

following ideas: 
• That the Palestine Question is basically an Islamic one and it is a 

responsibility on the shoulder of ev~ry Muslim, w~erever he is. 
• Western colonial interests in the region merged with the aims of 

the Zionists to set up the state of Israel in order to divide the 
Islamic community, weaken it, and render it dependent. 

• That Palestinian national unity would be realized on the basis of 
a programme of resistance and liberation. 

• The struggle with the Zionist Jews is not about borders but is a 
struggle between truth and falsehood that continues from one 
generation to another. 17 

On the other side of the divide, Zionist leaders also saw the 
conflict in existential terms. Prime Minister Shamir explained, "The 
problem is not a territorial dispute which can be solved through 
territorial concessions ... or [through] a political solution that will fall 
from heaven ... The problem is one of existence. There is a constant 
Arab threat, which is renewed from time to time, against Jewish 
existence in all of Eretz Israel"_ 18 

From the onset of the Intifada Israeli experts concluded that 
these "fundamentalists" were far more dangerous than the PLO. 19 
The role of Islamic Jihad and Hamas in directing the Intifada was an 
indication of how much the religious revival had spread throughout Palestinian society. 

Hamas' underlying philosophy toward other groups is one of 
cooperation and coordination. In many respects it is inspired by 
rivalry in the struggle to liberate Palestine and in confronting the 
Zionist occupation. Hamas refused to recognise Israel 's legitimacy, as it was founded on the conquest of land. 

Since its emergence, there were several instances of tension 
between _Hamas and Fateh. The latter saw Hamas as cutting into its 
popular influence. These differences have always been ironed out through dialogue. 

Like Islamic Jihad, Hamas' strategic aim is to liberate Palestine. It 
has transitional aims also such as the liberation of the West Bank 
and Gaza, preservation of good morals and decency in Palestinian 
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society, the eradication of corruption and the preservation of the 
. ·t of armed struggle. 

spin 

casualties 
Between 9 December 1987 and 8 December 1989, the Israelis 

seriously injured an estimated 80,000 Palestinians in the occupied 
west Bank and Gaza. Between one-third and two-fifths were 16 
years and younger. During the same period, one-quarter of the 599 
killed were children. 20 Despite its highly trained and equipped 
nature this was Israel's way of putting down the "generation of 
anger" who exploded stone revolution. 

The Israelis also resorted to undercover agents to kill political 
activists. According to the Israeli human rights group B'tselem the 
agents often "did not first try to capture the wanted person without 
resorting to firearms". 21 

Record of killings attributed to undercover units 22 

Year Gaza Strip West Bank 

1988 05 07 
1989 12 23 
1990 07 12 
1991 09 23 
1992 13 34 
1993 thru mid may 09 06 
Total 55 105 

Total 

12 

35 
19 
32 
47 
15 
160 

The Israelis also resorted to mass arrests and the breaking of the 
bones of demonstrators. In May 1989 they arrested 200 alleged 
Hamas members including Shaykh Ahmad Yassin. The following 
month they banned Hamas officially. Then, in December 1992, they 
expelled 400 Islamists to Marj al-Zuhur Mountain in southern 
Lebanon. This was not an old measure. Between 1968 and 1988 
Israel had expelled 1,000 Palestinians from their homeland. All 
these expulsions were considered illegal because they violated 
Article 49 (1) of the Fourth Geneva Convention to which Israel is a 
signatory. It states: "Individual or mass forcible transfers, as well as 
deportation of protected persons from occupied territory to the 
territory of the Occupying Power or to that of any other country, 
occupied or not, are prohibited, regardless of their motive". 

The Intifada ended in September 1993 when the PLO signed the 
Declaration of Principles (Oslo Accord) with Israel. According to 
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PLO figures, during the six years of the Intifada (Dec 1987 - Dec 

1993) 1,540 Palestinians were killed, 130,000 were injured, and 

117,000 were detained for various periods. 23 

Whatever its failures and shortcomings, the Intifada 

demonstrated that the Palestinian people were capable of taking 

their destiny into their own hands; even against one of the most 

well equipped armies in the world. It exposed to the world the true 

nature of the Israeli occupation, and confirmed that no amount of 

force is capable of breaking the will of a people yearning to be 

free. 

The PLO Declares Independence 
While the Intifada continued to take its toll in lives and injuries 

much was happening behind the scenes. By 1988 the Intifada had 

jolted the Americans and the international community to restore the 

Palestine Question to the top of the international agenda. Thus, the 

Swedish Foreign Minister, Sten Anderson, started a process of 

mediation between the two sides . He arranged for meetings 

between the PLO leaders and American Jewish leaders. The purpose 

was to work out a statement of PLO commitment to peace with 

Israel. 

At the same time, a prominent Palestinian American, Mohamed 

Rabie, who had contacts with the PLO, spearheaded a similar effort. 

He used the services of a prominent Middle East expert, William 

Quandt, to gain access to White House officials. His aim was to 

initiate a US-PLO dialogue at the highest level.24 The two initiatives 

undertaken by Anderson and Rabie resulted in the Algiers 
Declaration of November 1988. 

The Algiers Declaration was itself preceded by other 

developments , which affected the future of the Intifada. During the 

Arab summit held on 15 June 1998 in Algiers, Arafat's aide, Bassam 

Abu Sheriff, released a statement to the press declaring the PLO's 

readiness to co-exist with Israel. The statement was apparently 

intended to be a message of goodwill to the US administration but 
they ignored it. 

When Jordan relinquished legal and administrative ties with the 

West Bank in July 1988, the PLO seized on this to emphasize its 

status as the sole representative of the people of the West Bank. 

Hussein did this, presumably, to quash the Israeli so-called "Jordan 

option", which claimed that Jordan is the real home of the 
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Palestinians. There were widespread rumors of a plot to change the 

ruling Hashemite family with a Palestinian leader in Jordan. 25 

When the PNC met from 10-15 November 1988 for its nineteenth 

session in Algiers, they were advised by the Soviet Union and Arab 

states to devise a programme that would make the PLO acceptable 

for negotiations with the US and Israel. Thus, for the first time ever, 

the PLO officially recognized Resolution 181, which partitioned 

Palestine as well as Resolution 242. The PLO had, not too long 

before, deemed such recognition as a great sin. 26 Its proclamation 

of Palestinian independence in November 1988 was, therefore, 

overshadowed by its efforts to meet Israeli and American demands. 

To many, it seemed as if they had to give up their rights in order to 

gain recognition and acceptance. 

For all its worth, however, Arafat's conciliatory overtures could 

not earn him even a visa to attend the UNGA in New York. Despite 

intense world pressure the US Secretary of State, George Shultz, 

refused to grant the visa. The Americans only agreed to engage in 

dialogue with the PLO after Arafat read a statement using the exact 

words that Shultz dictated. 27 The US had always insisted that the 

PLO accept Resolution 242, stop attacks against Israel and renounce 

terrorism. On 7 December Arafat signed the Stockholm Document 

recognizing Israel, accepting Resolutions 242 and 338 and 

renouncing terror. It was only after this the dialogue between the 

US and the PLO finally got underway in Tunis on 17 December 

1988 with Robert Pelletreau representing the US. 

Oslo 

After the end of the 1991 Gulf War, America moved quickly to 

take advantage of Arab disunity by imposing a settlement to the 

Arab-Israeli conflict according to its vision. The War had resulted in 

the destruction and isolation of Iraq as a regional power. On 6 

March President George Bush (snr) called for an international 

conference on Middle East peace. The conference was held in 

Madrid on 30 October 1991 under the auspices of the Soviet Union. 

It Was attended by Israel, the European Union, the six Arab Gulf 
states, Syria, Jordan, Egypt, Lebanon, Morocco, Tunis, and Algeria. 

Israel objected to the participation of the PLO. As a result, 

representatives of the PLO from the West Bank and Gaza 

Participated [with PLO blessings] as part of the Jordanian 

delegation. 
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The conference adopted two approaches to Middle East peace: 

the multilateral talks and bilateral talks between Israel and states 

with whom it had territorial conflicts. The bilateral talks that lasted 

from November 1991 to October 1994 led to two principal 

agreements between Israel and the Palestinians and the Jordanians. 

The first was the Declaration of Principles (Oslo Accords) between 

Israel and the PLO, which was signed in Washington on 13 

September 1993. The other agreement was concluded at Wadi 

Araba between Israel and Jordan on October 1994. 

When the negotiations started in Madrid in 1991 the parties 

made little progress. Israel's ruling Likud party, headed by Yitshak 

Shamir did not want to attend and only did so after the US 
' 

threatened to withhold loan guarantees , which Israel sought to 

continue its settlement programme in the Occupied Territories. 

After weeks of bitter recriminations the Americans only got the 

Arabs to attend after declaring, in a letter of assurance written by 

Secretary of State, James Baker dated 18 October 1991 that, "the 

United States has opposed and will continue to oppose settlement 

activity in the territories occupied in 1967, which remains an 

obstacle to peace". 

In the fall of 1992 the new Labour government of Prime Minister 

Yitshak Rabin offered a peace proposal to the Palestinian 

negotiating team. Professor Francis Boyle, the legal advisor to the 

Palestinian team, read the document and advised that they reject it 

because it was akin to the "bantustans that the apartheid Afrikaaner 

regime had established for the Black People in the Republic of 

South Africa". 28 He told them the proposal sought to enforce the 

same understanding which Manachem Begin had of the Camp 

David Accord; that autonomy meant autonomy for the people but 

not for the land. After the Palestinian delegation led by Dr Haidar 

Abdul Shafi rejected the proposal, the Israelis opened a secret 

channel with elements within the PLO and initiated talks in 

Norway. This w~s done without the knowledge of the Palestinian 

people and thetr peace delegation. The result of these secret 
contacts was the Oslo Agreement. 

Mahmud Abbas, in his book "Tareeq Oslo", recalls the Oslo 

Agreement was not much different from an earlier plan that was 

presented to the PLO in Tunis on 12 March 1993 by Abdul Wahab 

Dirawashah, a former member of the Israeli Labour Party and 

founder of the Arab Democratic Party. He presented that proposal 
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behalf of Prime Minister Rab· 29 on 11 d the N m. About the secret negotiations he reca e d' h :rwegians first approached the Israelis wh~ agreed an t en t e Palestinians were approached Th · 'fal meeting · L · ere were some 1m 
1 

. s m ondon where an understanding between the two parties was struck,30 

The Oslo_ ~ccords were concluded after more than 14 rounds of 
secret negotiatlon_s between the PLO and Israelis. The official signing 
was concluded m Washington on 13 September 1993. Mahmud 
Abbas, in his capacity as Secretary General of the PLO executive 
council signed for the PLO while Foreign Minister Shimon Peres 
signed for Israel. All subsequent agreements between the two parties were based on the DOP. 

The Oslo Accords were important because it was the first of its 
kind between the Palestinians and Israelis. It proposed the 
establishment of self-autonomous Palestinian rule in the West Bank 
and Gaza for a transitional period of five years. The agreement 
postponed discussion of several vital issues such as the status of 
Jerusalem, the refugees, borders, water resources and the future of 
the Jewish settlements. A Palestinian National Authority (PNA) was 
formed to administer the territories. In some respects Oslo 
resembled the Camp David Accord. It confirmed the extent to 
which the PLO had changed because when Egypt signed the 
accords in 1978, it was described as a betrayal. 

In examining the process that led to Oslo it may be noted that 
Israel used every means to pressure the PLO. The presence of 
Hamas as a credible political force and the weakness of the Arab 
states were two notable means . Arafat returned to Gaza 
triumphantly in July 1994. The Oslo Accords was followed by five 
other agreements; each clarifying or reinterpreting its ~orerunner. 
They were the PLO-Israeli Agreement on the Gaza Stnp and the 
Jericho Area signed in Cairo (May 1994), the Taba Agreement also 
known as Oslo II (September 1995), the Protocol Concerning ~he 
Redeployment in Hebron (January 1997), Wye River Plantation 
Memorandum (October 1998), and the Sharm al-Shaykh 
Memorandum (September 1999). 

. . · 1 [DOP] in 1993, the When it signed the Declaration of Pnncip es . PL f t' ations leading to a 0 agreed to enter into a process O nego 1 

1 
. 

242 Permanent settlement based on Security Council Reso u_uon~ th anct 338. Since neither the DOP nor its derivatives mentione e 

125 



A History of Palestinian Resistance 

word "occupation" or referred to Israel as an Occupying Power it 

gained the ability to unilaterally determine which territories it 

would withdraw from. As a consequence, successive Israeli 
governments drifted away from the formula "land for peace", Which 
was derived from Resolutions 242 and 338 and adopted their own 

formula of "peace for peace". 

A principal example has been the Hebron Protocol of 15 January 
1997. After the Israelis claimed there were "loopholes" in the 
original agreements, Secretary of State Warren Christopher attached 
to the agreement a "Letter of Assurance" affirming America's 
commitment "to meet the security needs that Israel identifies". The 
following day Prime Minister Benyamin Netanyahu told the 
Knesset "it is Israel that will determine the nature and scope of the 

' three redeployments ... This is also the way the United States 
interprets the agreement". Based on this understanding, Israel has 
relentlessly pursued the construction of settlements, by-pass roads, 
and separation wall, all in the name of security. 

In the end, the Oslo Accords failed because Israel sought to 
maintain control of Palestinian life and land. Despite the assurances 
given to the Palestinians, the US, under President Clinton, refused 
to condemn the Israeli settlement activities in the UN claiming that 
it was "unproductive to debate the legalities of the issue". 
Madeliene Albright, the US Ambassador to the UN suggested in a 
letter to the GA in September 1994 that all UN resolutions on 
Palestine were "contentious, irrelevant and obsolete". 

When the parties met at Camp David in July 2000 there was little 
hope that the Palestinians would realize anything substantive. By 
then the PLO led by Arafat was called to discuss final status issues 
when they controlled only 17.2% of the West Bank. Although the 
entire process was founded on the principle of "land for peace" 
Israel confiscated over 40,000 acres of Palestinian land during the 
interim period before the final status negotiations. 

Whereas the DOP (Article IV) stated that "the two sides view the 
West Bank and Gaza Strip as a single territorial unit whose integrity 
will be preserved during the interim period" Israel' transformed the 
entire area into 64 clusters of townships with an elaborate system of 
settlements, highways, by-pass, industrial parks and closed military 
areas. After the failed Camp David talks Prime Minister Ehud Barak 
claimed he made the most "generous offer" to the Palestinians (95-
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96%) of the West Bank and Gaza Stri·p Th' 1 . h . is c aim was owever refuted because the Israeli figure did not include Jeru~alem, th~ oead Sea, the Jordan Valley or the settlements and ad· · · d d 
. Jommg roa s. Having alrea ~ _agreed to give up 78% of historic Palestine, the PLO was in no position to share the remaining 22% with Israel. 

In the aftermath, the Palestinians were blamed for the failure of the July 2000 negotiations at Camp David. On 28 September 2000 former General Ariel Sharon added insult to the Palestinian injury by making a provocative entry into the al-Aqsa Sanctuary under the protection of Israeli soldiers. This act ignited the flames of what became known as al-Aqsa Intifada. Since the entire Oslo process turned out to be a scam that increased their subjugation, the Palestinians decided to throw all caution and restraint to the wind. 
Points of Review 
• The return to religion was also a reaction to the violation of the religious sites by the occupier. 
• The 1987-1993 Intifada exposed to the world the true nature of the Israeli occupation, and confirmed that no amount of force is capable of breaking the will of a people yearning to be free. 
• The Oslo Accords sought to enforce the same understanding which Manachem Begin had of the Camp David Accord; that autonomy meant autonomy for the people but not for the land. 
Questions 
1. What were the underlying and immediate causes of the 1987-

1993 Intifada? 
h 1 d to the rise of the Islamic 2. Explain the circumstances t at e 

movement in Palestine in the 1980s. 
3. In the end the Oslo Accords failed because Israel sought to 

maintain control of Palestinian life and land· Comment. 
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